

Ochoco Wild Horse in Riparian Area, outside Territory.

"Fargo"

1998 - 2020

OCHOCO WILD HORSE HERD MANAGEMENT PLAN OBJECTIONS Central Oregon Wild Horse Coalition

Appendix C

 Quantifying the grazing impacts associated with different herbivores on rangelands S.D.Albon 2007 scottish.herbivore.study2007
EFFECTS OF FERAL HORSE HERDS ON PLANT COMMUNITIES ACROSS A PRECIPITATION GRADIENT rmrs_2016_baur1001
Aboveground and belowground mammalian herbivores regulate the demography of deciduous woody species in conifer forests pnw_2016_endress001

Quantifying the grazing impacts associated with different herbivores on rangelands

S. D. ALBON

Macaulay Institute and

Search for more papers by this author

M. J. BREWER

Biomathematics and Statistics Scotland, Craigiebuckler, Aberdeen AB15 8QH, UK

Search for more papers by this author

S. O'BRIEN

Macaulay Institute and

Present address: Joint Nature Conservation Committee, Aberdeen AB10 1UZ, UK.

Search for more papers by this author

A. J. NOLAN

Macaulay Institute and

Search for more papers by this author

D. COPE

Macaulay Institute and

Present address: Defra, Sustainable Energy Policy Division, 123 Victoria Street, London SW1E 6DE, UK.

Search for more papers by this author

S. D. ALBON

Macaulay Institute and

Search for more papers by this author

M. J. BREWER

Biomathematics and Statistics Scotland, Craigiebuckler, Aberdeen AB15 8QH, UK

Search for more papers by this author

S. O'BRIEN

Macaulay Institute and

Present address: Joint Nature Conservation Committee, Aberdeen AB10 1UZ, UK.

THESIS

EFFECTS OF FERAL HORSE HERDS ON PLANT COMMMUNITIES ACROSS A PRECIPITATION GRADIENT

Submitted by

Lauren Baur

Graduate Degree Program in Ecology

In partial fulfillment of the requirements

For the Degree of Master of Science

Colorado State University

Fort Collins, Colorado

Fall 2016

Master's Committee:

Advisor: Melinda D. Smith

Kathryn A. Schoenecker Paul Meiman Copyright by Lauren Baur 2016

All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

EFFECTS OF FERAL HORSE HERDS ON PLANT COMMMUNITIES ACROSS A PRECIPITATION GRADIENT

Feral horse herds in the western United States are managed with the goal of maintaining "a thriving natural ecological balance" with their environment. Because rangeland ecology is complex and grazers such as horses can have different effects under different environmental conditions, more data are needed to better inform Appropriate Management Levels and other management decisions. We used long-term grazing exclosures and fenceline contrasts to evaluate the impacts of feral horses on plant communities at five sites across the western United States. These sites ranged from 229 to 413 mm mean annual precipitation and represented four different ecosystems (Great Basin desert, Colorado Plateau, Rocky Mountain grassland and mixed grass prairie). We found that feral horses significantly reduced grass biomass and total biomass at alpha=0.1, but did not have a significant effect on plant community composition, species richness, diversity, evenness, or dominance. The effects of horses did not vary by site, indicating that different precipitation levels are not driving differences in grazing effects within the range encompassed by our sites. In other words, our results imply that while feral horses do reduce plant biomass, they are not causing plant community shifts, and their effects may not be as site-specific as has been assumed. Additional multi-site studies, preferably with standardized exclosures and larger sample sizes, would increase our understanding of feral horse grazing effects.

ii

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Thanks to my supportive family and friends. To my committee, Melinda Smith, Kate Schoenecker, and Paul Meiman. Thanks to the US Geological Survey for funding, and to everyone from the Bureau of Land Management, National Park Service, US Geological Survey and US Forest Service who made this project possible, including: John Axtell, Bill Pickett, Jared Bybee, Jim Sparks, Mike Jensen, Stan Kitchen, Elizabeth Burghard, Bill Whitworth, Chad Sexton, and Martina Thornton. To Ken, the BLM range tech who set up my rain bucket at Clan Alpine. To my hardworking and intrepid field assistant Mariah Patton, and lab assistants Abby, Jennie and Claire. Thanks to Phil Turk for statistics help, and to Nate Lemoine for help with data analysis and figures. To Jesse Gray for fieldwork help and Jennifer Ackerfield for plant ID help. To everyone who took a look at some plant that was stumping me. To Mike Bynum, who taught me many of the plant ID skills I needed to do this project. To Jennifer Radcliffe for manuscript comments. To TJ Holmes at Spring Creek Basin for sharing her time, knowledge and positivity, and to her family for the food and conversation. And thanks to everyone else who made our fieldwork more pleasant including Carol and Steve, Dave and his family in Fallon, Ivan and Lloyd in Naturita, and Art and Nancy at Bighorn Canyon. Finally, thanks to CSU motorpool; sorry about all the wear and tear on that truck.

iii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ABSTRACT | ii |
|---|-----|
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS | iii |
| 1.0 INTRODUCTION | 1 |
| 2.0 METHODS | 4 |
| 2.1 Study sites | 4 |
| 2.2 Experimental design | 8 |
| 2.3 Species composition sampling | 8 |
| 2.4 Fecal transects | 9 |
| 2.5 Biomass sampling | 9 |
| 2.6 Statistical analysis | 10 |
| 3.0 RESULTS | 13 |
| 3.1 Plant community response to feral horse grazing | 13 |
| 3.2 Long-term effects of feral horse grazing on biomass | 13 |
| 3.3 Short-term grazing intensity and annual utilization | 14 |
| 4.0 DISCUSSION | 20 |
| 5.0 FUTURE RESEARCH | 26 |
| REFERENCES | 28 |
| APPENDIX: SUPPLEMENTARY TABLE | 32 |
| | |

INTRODUCTION

Feral horses are widespread in the western United States, and the nature of their ecological role has often been a source of controversy. While the effects of cattle grazing on western rangelands have been thoroughly studied (e.g. Kauffman and Krueger 1984, Belsky et al. 1999, Jones 2000), the impacts of feral horses have received less attention (Beever 2003, Nimmo and Miller 2007). The effect of feral horses on rangelands west of the Rocky Mountains is of particular importance given that a large majority of federally managed feral horse herds and herd management areas (HMAs) are found in that region, on land managed by the Bureau of Land Management (BLM). However, most studies of feral horse grazing effects in North America have been conducted in salt marshes of the East Coast (Wood et al. 1987, Turner 1987, Turner 1988, Furbish and Albano 1994, Seliskar 2003, De Stoppelaire et al. 2004) and the Pryor Mountain Wild Horse Range of northern Wyoming/Southern Montana (Detling 1998, Gerhardt 2000, Gerhardt and Detling 2000, Fahnestock and Detling 2000), with a limited number of studies conducted in the Great Basin (Beever and Brussard 2000, Beever et al. 2003, Beever et al. 2008, Davies et al. 2014) or other western rangelands. Thus, we still lack basic understanding of the effects of feral horse grazing on rangelands of the western US, despite the fact that this represents a critical knowledge gap for effective rangeland management.

When compared to other ungulates, feral horses are expected to differ in their effects on rangeland plant communities because of differences in their digestive anatomy, as well as their grazing behavior. Although horses and cattle share a high dietary overlap (Scasta 2014), horses have higher energy requirements than cattle (Hanley 1982, Duncan et al. 1990). As cecal digesters rather than ruminants, they digest their food less completely, and retain most forage for a shorter time in their digestive tract (Duncan et al. 1990). Therefore, horses need to eat more plant biomass per unit of body mass than cattle (Janis 1976, Holechek 1988, Duncan et al. 1990, Menard et al. 2002, Scasta 2014). On

the other hand, unlike ruminants, equids can live on a high-cellulose diet (Gwynne and Bell 1968, Janis 1976), enabling them to survive and even thrive in habitat that would be considered low quality for other ungulates. Horses also differ from cattle in their grazing behavior. While cattle prefer to stay near water sources (Kauffman and Krueger 1984, Beever 2003), horses are able to range farther from water (Beever and Brussard 2000). Although Crane et al. (1997) found that feral horses in Wyoming spent proportionally more time in riparian habitat than in other habitat types, Ganskopp and Vavra (1986) did not observe such a preference among feral horses in Oregon. Horses also show a preference for higher elevation habitats (Ganskopp and Vavra 1986, Crane et al. 1997). This may mean horses cause less damage than cattle around water sources, but it also means that plants that might survive in highelevation refuges when only cattle are present are more likely to be grazed when horses are present (Symanski 1994, Beever 2003, Beever and Aldridge 2011). Because of these differences, relying on studies of cattle grazing effects to inform management of feral horse herds and HMAs is not appropriate. Instead, improved information on the specific effects of feral horse grazing is needed.

While there have been some studies of the effects of feral horses on plants in rangelands of the Intermountain West (Beever and Brussard 2000, Beever et al. 2003, Beever et al. 2008, Davies et al. 2014), the number of sites that has been studied is small compared to the area where feral horses are found. However, grazing effects on plant communities can be locally specific and dependent on local environmental conditions (Milchunas et al. 1988, Menke and Bradford 1992, Hobbs 1996, Ostermann-Kelm et al. 2009, Beever and Aldridge 2011). For example, the magnitude and direction of grazing effects on plant diversity appears to be influenced by the productivity of a site, which is correlated with precipitation level (Milchunas et al. 1988, Milchunas and Lauenroth 1993, Frank 2005, Bakker et al. 2006, Lezama et al. 2014). In productive grasslands, grazing often increases plant diversity, while in less productive grasslands, grazing can reduce diversity (Bakker et al. 2006, Lezama et al 2014, Koerner et al. in prep). In addition, the magnitude of grazing effects tends to increase with increasing productivity

(Milchunas and Lauenroth 1993, Lezama et al. 2014). Thus, to more comprehensively understand the impacts of feral horse grazing in the western US, studies across a range of environmental conditions are required.

The purpose of this study was to assess the effects of feral horse grazing on plant communities at five sites that span a large portion of the geographic area where feral horses are found in the western US. These sites cover a range of precipitation from 229 to 413 mm/yr, and represent four different rangeland ecosystems (Great Basin desert, Colorado Plateau, Rocky Mountain grasslands, and mixed grass prairie). In an effort to capture long-term effects, the project was limited to sites with preexisting exclosures or fenceline contrasts. Because of previous studies showing such a relationship between grazing effects and productivity or precipitation, we hypothesized that horse grazing would increase plant species richness and diversity at wetter sites, and decrease them at drier sites. We also predicted that the magnitude of grazing effects would increase with increasing precipitation.

METHODS

Study sites

For this study, we selected five rangeland sites which had preexisting exclosures or fencelines separating areas grazed by feral horses from areas not grazed by feral horses (Figure 1). Length of treatment ranged from about 10 years at the Colorado site to 81 years at the Utah site (Table 1). The sites spanned a precipitation gradient from about 229 mm/yr in Nevada to 413 mm/yr in Colorado. Because most of our sites were remote and lacked long-term precipitation records, we defined this gradient based on interpolated mean annual precipitation data from the Terrestrial Precipitation Analysis package (TPA) (Lemoine et al. 2016).

The driest site, Clan Alpine Herd Management Area (abbreviated as CA), is located in Churchill County, NV. It has an approximate mean annual precipitation of 229 mm. All of our sampling plots at CA were located in the same Natural Resource Conservation Service soil map unit, the Old Camp-Singatse-Rock outcrop association, the largest component of which is the Loamy Slope 8-10 P.Z. (R027XY007NV) ecological site (NRCS 2016). In the area of the HMA where we sampled, the vegetation includes both riparian and nonriparian species, dominated by the invasive annual grass *Bromus tectorum* (L.), native saltgrass (*Distichlis spicata* (L.) Greene), and bluegrasses (*Poa* spp. L.), along with some shrubs including *Sarcobatus vermiculatus* (Hook.) Torr., and exotic forbs such as *Salsola* spp. L. and *Kochia* spp. Roth.

The second driest site was the Sulphur Herd Management Area (Sulphur) in Millard County, UT, also in the Great Basin, with a mean annual precipitation of 332 mm. Although National Resource Conservation Service soil data were not available for this site, soils in the area are gravelly loams, sandy loams, and loamy sands (Clary and Holmgren 1982). The site is dominated by black sagebrush (*Artemisia nova* A. Nelson), rabbitbrush (*Chrysothamnus* spp. Nutt) and snakeweed (*Gutierrezia sarothrae* (Pursh) Britton and Rusby). Native bunchgrasses like *Hesperostipa comata* (Trin. & Rupr.) Barkworth, *Elymus*

elymoides (Raf.) Swezey, and Achnatherum hymenoides (Roem. & Schult.) Barkworth, as well as Bromus tectorum, are fairly prevalent.

The third site was the Pryor Mountain Wild Horse Range (PM) in Carbon County, MT/Big Horn County, WY. This site is in the Bighorn Mountains and has been described as "Rocky Mountain grassland" (Gerhardt and Detling 1998, Stohlgren et al. 1999), with mean annual precipitation of about 352 mm. Three of our exclosures at this site were located in the Silty-Limy (SiLy) RRU 46-S 10-14" p.z. (R046XS141MT), Silty (Si) RRU 58A-C 11-14" p.z. (R058AC040MT), and Loamy (Lo) 5-9" p.z. (R032XC020MT) ecological sites, while the fourth was located on limestone outcrop (NRCS 2016). The vegetation at Pryor Mountain is dominated by grasses like *Pseudoregneria spicata* (Pursh) Á. Löve and *Bouteloua gracilis* (Kunth) Lag. ex Griffiths, with the shrubs *Artemisia nova* and *Cercocarpus ledifolius* Nutt. also important in some locations.

The fourth site was Theodore Roosevelt National Park (THRO) in Billings County, ND. It is in the Great Plains region, with an average annual precipitation of 389 mm. Although this site was only the second wettest according the interpolated data, it was by far the most productive (see Figure 4). Our sampling plots were located in the park's South Unit, and covered several ecological sites and soil types, with plots farther east being on sandier soils, and those farther west on more clayey soils, with loamy soils also represented throughout (NRCS 2016). The park is mostly mixed grass prairie, with some area covered in badlands formations and woodlands. The park is dominated by native graminoids such as *Elymus elymoides, Carex inops* L.H. Bailey, and *Bouteloua curtipendula* (Michx.) Torr., though nonnative Kentucky bluegrass (*Poa pratensis* L.) is also abundant (Ashton and Prowatzke 2014).

The fifth and wettest site was Spring Creek Basin Herd Management Area (SCB), in San Miguel County, CO, on the Colorado Plateau. According to TPA, this site has an annual precipitation of 413 mm. Despite being the wettest site, SCB was less productive than THRO, probably due to differences in temperature/aridity and soil fertility. Our sampling at this site took place on Silty Saltdesert

(R035XY410CO), Basin Shale (R035XY408CO), and Clayey Saltdesert (R035XY403CO) ecological sites (NRCS 2016). The vegetation at SCB is characterized by shrubs including *Atriplex canescens* (Pursh) Nutt., *Sarcobatus vermiculatus* (Hook.) Torr, and *Krascheninnikovia lanata* (Pursh) A. Meeuse & A. Smit, as well as native perennial bunchgrasses like *Hilaria jamesii* (Torr.) Benth and *Sporobolus cryptandrus* (Torr.) A. Gray. *Bromus tectorum* is also common.



Figure 1: Map of vegetation sampling (site) locations and precipitation levels across the western USA, 2014-2015. CA=Clan Alpine Herd Management Area, Sulphur=Sulphur Herd Management Area, SCB=Spring Creek Basin Herd Management Area, PM=Pryor Mountain Wild Horse Range, THRO=Theodore Roosevelt National Park. See Table 1 for more information.

Table 1: Detailed study site descriptions indicating length of treatment, grazers present, and other environmental characteristics. HMAs are Herd Management Areas, administered by the Bureau of Land Management. The AML, or Appropriate Management Level, is the number of horses that the BLM has determined can be sustained on the HMA. Population estimates and AMLs are from blm.gov for Bureau of Land Management sites. Information for Theodore Roosevelt National Park is from personal communication with Bill Whitworth, Chief of Resource Management, and Chad Sexton, Geographic Information Systems Analyst. Dung counts for ungulates other than cattle, horses and bison are pooled because of the difficulty of accurately distinguishing between the feces of those animals in the field.

| | | | Mean | | | | | Exclosure or | | | | | | |
|------------------|----------|--------------|--------|---------------|---------------|-----------------|-------------------|----------------|------------|---------|---------------|--------|--------------------|---------------------|
| | | | annual | | | | | fence | | | Estimated | | | |
| | | | precip | | HMA/park size | | | construction | | | horse | | | |
| Site name | State | Ecosystem | (mm) | Elevation (m) | (hectares) | # of exclosures | Exclosure size | date | # of cages | AML | population | Mean n | umber of dung pile | s per dung transect |
| | | | N 7 | | <u>R</u> | | | | | | 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 | | | other ungulates |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | (deer, bighorn |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | sheep, pronghorn, |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | elk, domestic |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | horse | cattle or bison | sheep) |
| | | | | | | | ~40x140m and | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | ~20x140m, | 1990 and | 10 (9 | | 724 in 2014, | | | |
| Clan Alpine (CA) | Nevada | Great Basin | 229 | ~1400 | 122,307 | 2 | respectively | 1994 | survived) | 612-979 | 700 in 2015 | 11 | 11.5 | 5 |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | 0 (5 transects | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | with horses, 5 | | | | | 718 in 2014, | | | |
| Sulphur | Utah | Great Basin | 332 | ~1920 | 107,529 | without horses) | N/A | 1933 | 10 | 165-250 | 729 in 2015 | 9.8 | 0 | 26 |
| | | Rocky | | | | | Approximately | | | | | | | |
| Pryor Mountain | | Mountain | | | | | 50 x 50m | 1992 and | 20 (19 | | 160 in 2014, | | | |
| (PM) | Montana | grassland | 352 | ~1280-1520 | 13,430 | 4 | (slightly bigger) | 1994 | survived) | 90-120 | 172 in 2015 | 3 | 0 | 2.25 |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | 0 (THRO1=3 | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | transects with | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | horses, 3 | | Park | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | without horses; | | established in | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | THRO2=4 | | 1947; fence | | | | | | |
| Theodore | | Great Plains | | | | transects with | | constructed | | | | | | |
| Roosevelt | North | (mixed grass | | | | horses, 4 | | between 1950 | 10 (6 | | | | 6.5 inside park, | |
| (THRO) | Dakota | prairie) | 389 | ~1760 | 18,680 | without horses) | N/A | and 1956 | survived) | 50-90 | ~100 | 20.5 | 26.5 outside | 0 |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | 0.2 (One single | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | piece of cow | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | dung, more likely | |
| | | | | | | | 4 are 30 x 30ft | | | | | | missed in initial | |
| | | | | | | | (9.1 x 9.1 m), 1 | | | | | | sweep than | |
| Spring Creek | | Colorado | | | | | is bigger, 32m | 2003 and | | | 57 in 2014, | | deposited in | |
| Basin (SCB) | Colorado | Plateau | 413 | ~1980 | 8,658 | 5 | long | 2004 | 25 | 35-65 | 61 in 2015 | 4.8 | 2015) | 9.6 |

Experimental design

Because we were sampling preexisting exclosures and fencelines of different sizes, sampling layout varied somewhat between sites (Table 1). Three of the sites (CA, PM and SCB) had preexisting grazing exclosures, and data were collected inside and outside each exclosure. Clan Alpine differs from the other sites in that its exclosures were built to protect springs. In 2014 our sampling protocol at CA was similar to that of Beever and Brussard (2000); we located species composition transects inside exclosures at exclosed springs and in grazed areas at nearby springs without exclosures. In 2015 we added transects immediately outside the exclosures at the exclosed springs. Given these differences in sampling, CA species composition data were included in analysis for 2015, but not 2014. However, plant species richness, evenness, diversity and dominance were still calculated for 2014 (Supplementary Table 1).

Sulphur and THRO did not have grazing exclosures, but each site had a fenceline with horses confined to one side. Sulphur HMA is separated by a fenceline from the USDA Forest Service's Desert Experimental Range (DER); horses graze on the BLM side but not the DER side. At THRO, we sampled in the park's South Unit, where the horses are confined inside the park fence and mostly on the east side of the Little Missouri River which bisects the park. In 2014 we placed transects on either side of the river. In 2015 we added transects on either side of the park fence. We treated these two groups of transects as separate "sites" for analysis (THRO1 and THRO2).

Species composition sampling

To assess plant species composition, we recorded absolute percent cover of all plant species within square 1m x 1m quadrats, placed every 2 m along transects inside and outside the permanent exclosures or on either side of the fenceline. Most transects were 50 m long, but at Spring Creek Basin the exclosures were too small, so we used multiple shorter transects. Some larger exclosures had

multiple 50-m transects inside to increase sampling. For each quadrat, we visually estimated aerial cover of each species separately to the nearest 1%. We also estimated the percent cover of biological soil crust, and of totally exposed ground covers including bare ground, rock, and litter where they exceeded a contiguous 1% of the quadrat. In 2015 we also noted all animal dung inside quadrats to confirm the identity of grazers that were present. Species composition data were collected at each site once in 2014 and twice in 2015 (early and late in the growing season); the larger of the two values for each species in 2015 was used in subsequent analyses.

Fecal transects

To assess the level of use of our sampling sites by herbivores, in 2015 we used dung transects consisting of two 50-m tapes placed 4 m apart running parallel to our species composition transects, outside exclosures, or on the side of the fence with horses, at each site except THRO1. One transect at Sulphur and two at THRO2 were also placed on the side of the fence without horses. During our first sampling trip of 2015, we cleared all large animal dung from the area between the tapes, recording the number of dung piles. We repeated this process on our second sampling trip to see how many dung piles had been added since the first trip. No statistical analyses were performed on these data; instead, we used average number of piles per transect as a general metric of herbivore presence (see Table 1).

Biomass sampling

We constructed small temporary exclosures ("cages"), each 1 x 1 x 1 m in size, and installed them outside permanent exclosures or in horse-grazed areas at each site in spring 2015. In late summer, we collected all aboveground herbaceous biomass inside 0.25 m² circular frames. For each cage, we clipped one frame inside the cage, one frame approximately 1-2 m outside the cage, and one inside the permanent exclosure. At the time the cages were placed, we determined where to place each outside

frame by comparing the area up to ~2m away from the cage on each of its four sides, and choosing the side of each cage that had the most plant species in common with the area inside the cage. Since we were not collecting biomass from woody plants, we avoided placing the cages and their corresponding outside frames directly on top of shrubs. If multiple sides of the cage had the same species in common with the area inside the cage, the side that seemed to be most similar in biomass to the area inside the cage, based on a casual visual estimate at the time the cages were installed, was chosen. Frames inside the permanent exclosures were placed by randomly tossing them into the exclosure and clipping where they fell. Biomass was divided into three categories: grass (including other graminoids such as sedges), forbs, and litter. Biomass was field-dried and then dried in drying ovens in the lab for at least 24 hours at 60°C before weighing.

Statistical analysis

For species composition data, the experimental unit for analysis was the plot level. In most cases, each plot consisted of all quadrats inside or outside a single permanent exclosure. However, at Sulphur, each 50m transect was considered a plot, meaning the site had a total of five plots with horse grazing and five plots without. At THRO1, each plot consisted of three transects (meaning there was only one plot per treatment), and at THRO2, each plot consisted of two transects (two plots per treatment). (Transects were grouped into plots based on their proximity to each other. At Sulphur, the transects were roughly evenly spaced along the fenceline, while at THRO1 and THRO2, transects were more clustered due to topography.) Mean species richness, evenness, diversity (e^{H'}), and Berger-Parker dominance were calculated at the quadrat level and then averaged at the plot level to avoid bias caused by the fact that not all plots had an equal number of quadrats. For CA, these calculations were done using all available data for 2014, but grazed plots without corresponding ungrazed plots were dropped

from the 2015 data. An alpha level of 0.1 was set for all analyses, and 2014 and 2015 data were analyzed separately.

The plot-level values of species richness, evenness, diversity (e^{H'}), and dominance were analyzed using a mixed linear model with PROC MIXED in SAS® version 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA). Factors were site and grazing (i.e., feral horses present or not), with the grazing treatment nested within site. A similar mixed linear model was used to analyze grass, forb and total herbaceous biomass (hereafter "total biomass") inside and outside permanent exclosures. In both models, effects of grazing treatment, site, and treatment by site interactions were assessed. Although data were collected on litter biomass, those data were not used in analyses.

As mentioned above, the layout used for species composition sampling at Clan Alpine differed from that used at other sites in that some grazed plots did not have corresponding ungrazed plots, meaning some data could not be used in the analyses to assess site or grazing effects. Because of this, CA was not included in statistical analysis for 2014. For 2015 sampling, new transects were added, and two grazed plots at CA without corresponding ungrazed plots were dropped from the analysis for 2015. At THRO the groups of transects established in 2014 and 2015, respectively, were designated as separate "sites" (THRO1 and THRO2) in the analyses.

To assess differences in plant community composition, community matrices were constructed, consisting of relativized mean percent cover per quadrat of each species in each plot. These community matrices were used to construct Bray-Curtis resemblance matrices. The resemblance matrices were analyzed using two-factor permanovas (Primer v6), with site and treatment (with vs. without horses) as factors, with treatment nested within site.

To assess short-term grazing effects/utilization (i.e., to compare biomass inside and outside temporary exclosures), t-tests were conducted in SAS with PROC TTEST. Biomass was averaged across all temporary exclosures and all corresponding grazed plots for each site, and those averages were used to

calculate 2015 growing season offtake ((ungrazed-grazed)/ungrazed) for each site (McNaughton 1979, Bonham 1989).

RESULTS

Plant community response to feral horse grazing

In 2014 (Figure 2) and 2015 (Figure 3), richness, diversity (e^{H'}) and dominance, but not evenness, varied significantly by site at alpha=0.1. However, there were no significant grazing effects, and grazing by site interactions were not significant (Table 2). Two-factor permanovas showed that, as expected, plant community composition differed significantly among the five study sites (p=0.005 for both 2014 and 2015). However, plant community composition was not different between grazed vs. ungrazed plots (p=0.987 for 2014 and p=0.969 for 2015). Individual single-factor permanovas performed separately for each site in each year also failed to find any significant effect of grazing on community composition at any individual site (p>0.1, data not shown).

Long-term effects of feral horse grazing on biomass

Averaging across all treatments (inside permanent exclosures, inside temporary exclosures, and outside), THRO had by far the highest total biomass, followed by CA, SCB, PM and Sulphur (Figure 4). Total biomass and grass biomass differed significantly by site and with grazing. Forb biomass did not differ significantly between sites or with grazing (Table 3). Across sites, grazed areas had a mean of 52.9% less grass biomass and 40.3% less total biomass than areas experiencing long-term exclosure from wild horse grazing. (These percentages are calculated as percent removed; see Table 4.) CA was an outlier with 95.3% less grass biomass outside than inside permanent exclosures. However, interactions between site and grazing were not significant for total, grass, or forb biomass (Table 3).

Short-term grazing intensity and annual utilization

Percent offtake of total biomass in 2015 was highest at Pryor Mountain (26.3%) and lowest at THRO (1.9%; Table 5). At Sulphur, average biomass was higher outside than inside temporary exclosures by 52.7%. When offtake was divided into grasses and forbs, grass biomass was higher outside the temporary exclosures at 3 of 5 sites, but forb biomass was higher inside than outside at 4 of 5 sites (Table 5). However, only grass and total biomass at Sulphur showed significant differences in biomass inside vs. outside the temporary exclosures (Table 5). No other significant differences in grass, forb or total biomass inside vs. outside the temporary exclosures were observed at any site.

Table 2: Results of linear mixed-model analysis of variance for the effects of site and feral horse grazing on plant species richness, evenness, Shannon's diversity ($e^{H'}$) and Berger-Parker dominance. P-values \leq 0.1 are in bold.

| | | Richness | | Evenn | Evenness | | | Diversity | | | Dominance | | |
|------|--------------|----------|-------|---------|----------|------|--------|-----------|-------|---------|-----------|------|--------|
| | | df | F | Р | df | F | Р | df | F | Р | df | F | Р |
| 2014 | Site | 4, | 21.91 | 0.0008 | 4, 24 | 1.28 | 0.3050 | 4, | 12.04 | 0.0008 | 4, 24 | 3.33 | 0.0265 |
| | | 6.27 | | | | | | 9.78 | | | | | |
| | Grazing | 1, | 0.01 | 0.9211 | 1, 24 | 0.38 | 0.5442 | 1, | 0 | 0.9553 | 1, 24 | 0.29 | 0.5974 |
| | | 20.9 | | | | | | 19.8 | | | | | |
| | Site*grazing | 4, | 1.59 | 0.2137 | 4, 24 | 1.92 | 0.1397 | 4, | 1.66 | 0.1980 | 4, 24 | 1.99 | 0.1280 |
| | | 20.9 | | | | | | 19.8 | | | | | |
| 2015 | Site | 5, 26 | 25.01 | <0.0001 | 5, | 1.12 | 0.3727 | 5, 26 | 9.92 | <0.0001 | 5, | 2.40 | 0.0903 |
| | | | | | 25.5 | | | | | | 14.1 | | |
| | Grazing | 1, 26 | 0.18 | 0.6755 | 1, 25 | 1.17 | 0.2892 | 1, 26 | 0.33 | 0.5678 | 1, | 1.66 | 0.2100 |
| | | | | | | | | | | | 22.7 | | |
| | Site*grazing | 5, 26 | 0.79 | 0.5645 | 5, 25 | 0.88 | 0.5067 | 5, 26 | 1.01 | 0.4305 | 5, | 1.01 | 0.4322 |
| | | | | | | | | | | | 22.7 | | |

Table 3: Results of mixed-model analysis of variance for the effects of site and feral horse grazing on grass, forb, and total herbaceous biomass (comparing grazed areas with areas inside permanent exclosures). P-values ≤ 0.1 are in bold.

| | | Grass | | | Forbs | | | Total | | |
|------|--------------|-------|-------|--------|-------|------|--------|-------|-------|--------|
| | | df | F | Р | df | F | Р | df | F | Ρ |
| 2015 | Site | 4, | 23.01 | 0.0006 | 4, 1 | 0.89 | 0.6520 | 4, | 18.34 | 0.0005 |
| | | 6.57 | | | | | | 7.87 | | |
| | Grazing | 1, | 5.1 | 0.0338 | 1, | 0.09 | 0.7634 | 1, | 3.96 | 0.0586 |
| | | 22.7 | | | 21.7 | | | 23.1 | | |
| | Site*grazing | 4, | 0.48 | 0.7481 | 4, | 1.53 | 0.2298 | 4, | 0.26 | 0.9005 |
| | | 22.7 | | | 21.7 | | | 23.1 | | |

Table 4: Long-term grazing effects on grass and total biomass inside vs. outside permanent exclosures at each site. Percent removed is calculated as ((biomass inside exclosures-biomass outside exclosures)/biomass inside exclosures).

| | Log response ratio | | Percent removed | | | | |
|---------|--------------------|----------|-----------------|-------|--|--|--|
| | Grass | Total | Grass | Total | | | |
| СА | -3.05911 | -0.58321 | 95.3% | 44.2% | | | |
| Sulphur | -0.68856 | -1.16463 | 49.8% | 68.8% | | | |
| PM | -0.59923 | -0.37607 | 45.0% | 31.3% | | | |
| THRO | -0.31058 | -0.30964 | 26.7% | 26.6% | | | |
| SCB | -0.64418 | -0.36088 | 47.5% | 30.3% | | | |
| Mean | -1.06033 | -0.55889 | 52.9% | 40.3% | | | |

Table 5: Comparison of biomass inside vs. outside temporary exclosures ("cages") for each site in 2015. Percent offtake is ((biomass inside cages-biomass outside cages)/biomass inside cages)*100. P-values were determined by t-tests comparing mean biomass inside vs. outside cages for each site. P-values ≤ 0.1 are in bold.

| | Total | | Grass | | Forbs | | |
|---------|---------|--------|---------|--------|---------|--------|--|
| | Percent | Р | Percent | Р | Percent | Р | |
| | offtake | | offtake | | offtake | | |
| CA | 14.1% | 0.6079 | -4.0% | 0.9755 | 15.0% | 0.6262 | |
| Sulphur | -52.7% | 0.0939 | -59.9% | 0.0794 | 72.5% | 0.4067 | |
| PM | 26.3% | 0.4796 | -3.3% | 0.9313 | 53.1% | 0.4041 | |
| THRO | 1.9% | 0.3335 | 13.9% | 0.5652 | 93.2% | 0.3084 | |
| SCB | 16.7% | 0.5963 | 28.1% | 0.4308 | -33.3% | 0.5778 | |



Figure 2: Effects of feral horse grazing on plant species richness, evenness, Shannon's diversity (e^{H'}), and Berger-Parker dominance per m² in 2014. Error bars represent standard error. Different lower case letters denote significant differences between sites at alpha=0.1. Sites are in order from driest (lowest precipitation) to wettest (highest precipitation).



Figure 3: Effects of feral horse grazing on plant species richness, evenness, Shannon's diversity ($e^{H'}$), and Berger-Parker dominance per m² in 2015. Error bars represent standard error. Different lower case letters denote significant differences between sites at alpha=0.1. Sites are in order from driest (lowest precipitation) to wettest (highest precipitation).



Figure 4: Long-term effects of feral horse grazing on grass, forb and total herbaceous biomass, measured in 2015. Error bars represent standard error. Different lower case letters denote significant differences between sites at alpha=0.1 (see Table 3). Sites are in order from driest to wettest. Insets show differences in biomass averaged across all sites.

DISCUSSION

We did not observe a significant effect of grazing by feral horses on any of several aspects of plant community structure (plant species richness, diversity, evenness or dominance) or plant community composition for the five rangeland sites spanning a 184-mm precipitation gradient. There was also no grazing by site interaction for any of these factors. Conversely, based on comparisons with long-term exclosed areas, feral horse grazing has significantly reduced grass biomass and total biomass at alpha=0.1, and this effect did not vary among sites. Thus, our hypothesis that grazing effects would vary by site, according to precipitation levels, was not supported.

Similar to our study, previous studies of feral horse impacts have usually found that horse grazing reduced overall aboveground plant biomass. This includes Villalobos and Zalba (2010) in grasslands in Argentina; and Wood et al. (1987), Turner (1987, in a study where clipping was used to simulate feral horse grazing), and Seliskar (2003) on east coast barrier islands. Wood et al. (1987) also observed lower grass biomass in areas grazed by feral horses. However, at Pryor Mountain, Gerhardt and Detling (2000) found no significant effect of horses on total biomass, and Fahnestock and Detling (1999a) found that grasses compensated for biomass removed by simulated horse grazing when water availability was adequate.

Studies looking at the effects of horses on plant species richness and diversity are more numerous, with more varied results. In Argentina, Villalobos and Zalba (2010) reported that horses reduced both richness and diversity. On Assateague Island, Seliskar (2003) found no effect on species richness. In the Sonoran Desert, Ostermann-Kelm et al. (2009) found increased plant diversity near horse trails compared with control plots far from trails. Among previous studies at Pryor Mountain, Gerhardt and Detling (2000) and Gerhardt (2000) found no effect on plant species richness, but Fahnestock and Detling (1999b) found that horses increased diversity in some cases. In the Great Basin,

the presence of feral horses has usually been associated with lower plant species richness (Beever and Brussard 2000, Beever et al. 2008) and diversity (Davies et al. 2014). However, Beever et al. (2008) found increased species richness at some horse-occupied sites, while Davies et al. (2014) found no effect of horses on richness. Similar to our study, Beever et al. (2003) in the Great Basin and Detling (1998) at Pryor Mountain found that horse grazing was not a major influence on plant community composition.

One possible reason for the lack of significant effects on community composition and diversity is that our sites, like many arid and semi-arid rangelands, are non-equilibrium systems where plant communities and herbivore populations are not tightly coupled. Theoretically, this is the case because in systems with high precipitation variability, droughts keep herbivore populations below a level that would damage the vegetation (Behnke and Scoones 1993, Cowling 2000, Derry and Boone 2010, Von Wehrden et al. 2012). Because the BLM gathers and removes horses when their numbers exceed Appropriate Management Levels, these removals could be taking the place of drought-induced mortality events by periodically reducing populations.

Relatedly, arid and semi-arid systems often display nonlinear and even irreversible responses to grazing (Westoby et al. 1989, Friedel 1991, Laycock 1991, Joyce 1993). It is possible that grazing before the construction of the exclosures we sampled pushed the plant communities into an alternate stable state, after which removal of grazing was not enough to return the system to a previous state. In keeping with many previous horse grazing exclusion studies (e.g. Turner 1987, Rogers 1991, Detling 1998, Fahnestock and Detling 1999b, Beever and Brussard 2000, Fahnestock and Detling 2000, Seliskar 2003, De Stoppelaire et al. 2004, Davies et al. 2014), we have assumed that comparing plant communities inside and outside exclosures constitutes an observation of the effects of "horses" or of "grazing." However, because vegetation recovery is rarely a simple reversal of grazing-induced changes, "effects of grazing" and "effects of protection from grazing" may not be equivalent (Fleischner 1994,

Sarr 2002). Past or current grazing may have caused changes that are not detectable purely through the use of exclosures.

The productivity level of our sites may also have contributed to the lack of grazing effects that we observed. Assuming that there is a relationship between primary productivity and the effects of grazing on plant diversity, with grazing decreasing diversity at less-productive sites and increasing diversity at more-productive sites, this implies an intermediate range of productivity where no effect of grazing on plant diversity is observed. In a study by Frank (2005), the intercept where grazing effects switched from negative to positive (i.e., the point where the effect should be zero) was slightly below 100 g/m² net aboveground production. In another study by Bakker et al. (2006), this point was at approximately 225 g/m². Our sites may fall into such a range of intermediate productivity where grazing has no observable effect on plant diversity.

Another possibility is that the areas where we sampled were not receiving high enough grazing pressure to cause shifts in the plant community. Although only one of the sites, Sulphur, had a population that far exceeded its AML, two additional sites (THRO and PM) had horse populations slightly above the level recommended by their managing agencies. The BLM defines the upper AML as the "maximum number [...]which [...]avoids a deterioration of the range" (BLM 2010). However, whether AMLs accurately reflect such a threshold is questionable (NRC 2013), so it is possible that a herd could be above AML but still too small to cause plant community shifts. Additionally, horse density in the site as a whole may not directly correspond to horse use of the specific plots we sampled. Our dung transects showed that horses were present near our plots (see Table 1), and we observed horses while sampling at every site. Data comparing biomass inside and outside temporary exclosures in 2015 support the idea that grazing pressure was not very high, since there were no significant differences in biomass inside vs. outside the temporary exclosures. However, the fact that total and grass biomass

was significantly higher inside the permanent exclosures vs. areas actively grazed (see Table 3), indicates that the areas have been under grazing pressure over the long term.

In other words, there are several possible explanations for the observed lack of grazing effects on plant community composition and diversity at these sites, and further research is needed to fully understand the role of these different influences.

It is also possible that plant community changes have occurred which our sampling did not detect. This study suffered from several limitations that restricted our power to detect grazing effects. Because our goal was to investigate long-term grazing effects across sites spanning a broad precipitation gradient in the western US, we were limited to sites with preexisting fencelines and exclosures, which were not standardized in number or dimensions. Given that there were often only a few existing exclosures or a single fenceline (or in the case of THRO1, a river) available for sampling at the study sites, sample sizes within each site were relatively small, potentially affecting our ability to detect a grazing effect. However, it is important to consider that other horse grazing exclusion studies have had similarly small sample sizes (e.g. Turner 1987, 1988; Rogers 1991; Furbish and Albano 1994; Detling 1998; Fahnestock and Detling 2000; Beever and Brussard 2000; De Stoppelaire et al. 2004).

The placement of exclosures around springs at CA may have biased species composition data at that site, due to the greater prevalence of riparian vegetation inside exclosures compared to outside. Similarly, the "grazed" and "ungrazed" plots at THRO1 were unusually far apart (about 11 km), introducing the possibility that differences were influenced by factors other than grazing. Additionally, our analysis was unable to account for differences in exclosure sizes and differences between exclosures and fencelines, despite the implications of such differences for edge effects, propagule dispersal, and access by native herbivores.

This study was also subject to other complications that often make studying feral horse effects difficult. Most places where feral horses are found have complex and sometimes poorly documented

grazing histories, and are also occupied by other large herbivores such as cattle, whose effects can be difficult to separate from those of horses (Beever and Aldridge 2011, Beever and Herrick 2006). Three of our sites (PM, SCB and Sulphur) had no cattle present at the time of our study. (PM has had no livestock grazing since 1968 [Fahnestock and Detling 1999b]; SCB has had no cattle grazing since 2011 [TJ Holmes, personal communication]; and at Sulphur, no dung, tracks or any other signs of cattle were observed near our plots at any time during this study.) At CA, cattle were absent from the vicinity of the exclosures from 1983 to at least 2000 (Beever and Brussard 2000), but they were present during our study (personal observation). Our fecal transects suggest that roughly equal numbers of horses and cattle were present near the exclosures (see Table 1). Because of this, grazing effects at CA should be regarded as resulting from a combination of horse and cattle use. At THRO, bison were present inside the park fence (the area with horses), and there was a Forest Service cattle grazing allotment outside the fence (the area without horses). We hoped that because of the functional similarity between bison and cattle grazing (Knapp et al. 1999, Tastad 2013), we would be able to detect the additional impact of horses inside the fence; however, based on dung transects, cattle use of our transects outside the fence exceeded bison use of our transects inside the fence, potentially causing our data to underestimate the impact of horses. Similarly, domestic sheep graze both sides of the fence at Sulphur, and may have affected our results there, although there is limited dietary overlap between horses and domestic sheep (Hanley and Hanley 1982, Scasta 2014).

Native ungulates such as mule deer, pronghorn, bighorn sheep and/or elk also were present at all of our sites, but did not always frequent our specific plots (see Table 1). These other herbivores may also have influenced our results, especially at SCB and Sulphur where dung transects suggested higher use by native herbivores compared to our other sites. For example, effects on species composition caused by horses removing grasses may have been dampened by native browsers removing biomass from shrubs and forbs. We were also unable to quantify shrub biomass, meaning we may have been

missing an important component of feral horse impacts, although shrubs typically make up only a small proportion of horse diets (Scasta 2014).

Because of these limitations in our study, and despite our attempts to cover as wide a precipitation gradient as possible, our data are not completely representative of the range of environments in which feral horses live. Thus, although we did not find significant interactions between site and grazing, it is premature to conclude that no relationship exists between precipitation levels (or other site-specific environmental factors) and magnitude of feral horse grazing effects. Additional data to address the effects of feral horses and connections between those effects and environmental conditions could be provided by future research.

FUTURE RESEARCH

This study was an attempt to ameliorate the scarcity of studies of feral horses in the majority of the geographic range where they occur in the US. However, our experimental design was limited by the availability of existing exclosures. Despite this limitation, our study highlights ways that feral horse research can be improved and expanded in the future. One way to better address the question of how feral horses affect vegetation would be a large scale, long-term study with standardized exclosures.

The National Research Council, in its 2013 report on the BLM Wild Horse and Burro Program, suggested designating and intensively studying "sentinel HMAs [...] representative of diverse ecological settings." In keeping with this suggestion, a study could include sites in the Mojave Desert, throughout the Great Basin, in the Colorado Plateau, and in southwestern Wyoming to fully cover the geographic extent of feral horses on Bureau of Land Management lands. Because the Great Basin consists of mountain ranges separated by low valleys, and each mountain range can have a unique species composition (Berger 1986), it would be instructive to look at multiple mountain ranges as well as low elevations within in the Great Basin. The study should also include sites at a range of elevations, since in the Great Basin, elevation strongly affects temperature and precipitation (Berger 1986, Petersen 1994). Together with a wider geographic extent, this would enable investigation of a larger precipitation gradient to potentially detect relationships between precipitation and grazing effects.

Moreover, given that feral horse grazing often occurs in tandem with cattle, sheep, and native ungulate grazing, there is a pressing need for studies that separate the effects of feral horses from those of other herbivores. A study targeting HMAs without cattle or bison, or in an HMA where grazers could be separated, would reduce the confounding effects of those grazers. Even better would be to find places that are inhabited by feral horses but have not historically experienced cattle grazing (if any such places exist). In general, the more detailed and reliable the record of past livestock grazing, the better. It

would also be helpful to select locations where the horse population (past and current numbers and habitat use) is well documented. This would enable investigation of relationships between horse density/grazing intensity and grazing effects, a question which is critical to wild horse management.

As mentioned above, many feral horse exclosure studies have suffered from small sample sizes. In the case of this study, both small sample size and unbalanced data made analysis more difficult than it would have been if more exclosures of similar size had been available. A system of large exclosures with standardized dimensions, with multiple exclosures per site, would be extremely valuable for studying feral horse impacts. Despite the logistical difficulties involved, selecting exclosure locations randomly within each site would make the resulting data more representative of the study area as a whole, and prevent bias arising from exclosures being located near roads or springs. Clearly and permanently marked transects both inside and outside exclosures would facilitate long-term sampling of the same locations, allowing observation of changes over time as well as differences between grazed and ungrazed plant communities. Another advantage to long-term sampling of the same areas would be the ability to use allometric measurements to quantify changes in woody biomass.

Although our study focused on plant communities, previous research has shown that feral horses can also impact other ecosystem components such as soil (Beever et al. 2003, Beever and Herrick 2006, Ostermann-Kelm et al. 2009, Davies et al. 2014), invertebrates (Beever et al. 2003, Beever and Herrick 2006, Ostermann-Kelm et al. 2009), birds (Levin et al. 2002, Beever and Aldridge 2011), and small mammals (Beever and Brussard 2000, Beever et al. 2003). Even in locations where effects on plant diversity are not observed, grazing may be having other important impacts which merit further study.

Despite the challenges of studying feral horses' ecological effects, a large-scale, long-term study of carefully selected HMAs using large, standardized exclosures could go a long way toward addressing the questions and controversy surrounding this topic, and could contribute to optimal management of America's feral horses.

REFERENCES

- Ashton, I.W., and M. Prowatzke. 2014. Plant community composition and structure monitoring for Theodore Roosevelt National Park: 2013 annual report. National Park Service, Fort Collins, CO.
- Bakker, E.S., M.E. Ritchie, H. Olff, D.G. Milchunas, and J.M.H. Knops. 2006. Herbivore impact on grassland plant diversity depends on habitat productivity and herbivore size. Ecology Letters 9:780-788.
- Beever, E.A., and P.F. Brussard. 2000. Examining ecological consequences of feral horse grazing using exclosures. Western North American Naturalist 60:236-254.
- Beever, E. 2003. Management implications of the ecology of free-roaming horses in semi-arid ecosystems of the western United States. Wildlife Society Bulletin 31:887-895.
- Beever, E.A., R.J. Tausch, and P.F. Brussard. 2003. Characterizing grazing disturbance in semiarid ecosystems across broad scales, using diverse indices. Ecological Applications 13:119-136.
- Beever, E.A., and J.E. Herrick. 2006. Effects of feral horses in Great Basin landscapes on soil and ants: Direct and indirect mechanisms. Journal of Arid Environments 66:96-112.
- Beever, E.A., R.J. Tausch, and W.E. Thogmartin. 2008. Multi-scale responses of vegetation to removal of horse grazing from Great Basin (USA) mountain ranges. Plant Ecology 196:163-184.
- Beever, E.A., and C.L. Aldridge. 2011. Influences of free-roaming equids on sagebrush ecosystems, with a focus on Greater Sage-Grouse. Pages 273–290 in S. T. Knick and J. W. Connelly, editors. Greater Sage-Grouse: ecology and conservation of a landscape species and its habitats. Studies in Avian Biology (vol. 38), University of California Press, Berkeley, CA.
- Behnke, R.H. and I. Scoones. 1993. Rethinking range ecology: Implications for rangeland management in Africa. Pages 1-30 in R.H. Behnke, I. Scoones, and C. Kerven, editors. Range Ecology at Disequilibrium: New Models of Natural Variability and Pastoral Adaptation in African Savannas. Overseas Development Institute, London.
- Belsky, A.J., A. Matzke, and S. Uselman. 1999. Survey of livestock influences on stream and riparian ecosystems in the western United States. Journal of Soil and Water Conservation 54:419-431.
- Berger, J. 1986. Wild horses of the Great Basin: Social competition and population size. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, IL.
- Bonham, C.D. 1989. Measurements for terrestrial vegetation, 2nd edition. Wiley-Blackwell.
- Bureau of Land Management (BLM). 2010. Wild horses and burros management handbook. U.S. Department of the Interior, Washington, DC.
- Clary, W.P., and R.C. Holmgren. 1982. Desert Experimental Range: Establishment and Research Contribution. Rangelands 4:261-264.
- Crane, K.K., M.A. Smith, and D. Reynolds. 1997. Habitat selection patterns of feral horses in southcentral Wyoming. Journal of Range Management 50:374-380.

- Davies, K.W., G. Collins, and C.S. Boyd. 2014. Effects of feral free-roaming horses on semi-arid rangeland ecosystems: an example from the sagebrush steppe. Ecosphere 5:1-14.
- Derry, J.F., and R.B. Boone. 2010. Grazing systems are a result of equilibrium and non-equilibrium dynamics. Journal of Arid Environments 74:307-309.
- De Stoppelaire, G.H., T.W. Gillespie, J.C. Brock, and G.A. Tobin. 2004. Use of remote sensing techniques to determine the effects of grazing on vegetation cover and dune elevation at Assateague Island National Seashore: impact of horses. Environmental Management 34:642-649.
- Detling, J.K. 1998. Mammalian herbivores: Ecosystem-level effects in two grassland national parks. Wildlife Society Bulletin 26:438-448.
- Duncan, P.D., T.J. Foose, I.J. Gordon, C.G. Gakahu, and M. Lloyd. 1990. Comparative nutrient extraction from forages by grazing bovids and equids: a test of the nutritional model of equid/bovid competition and coexistence. Oecologia 84:411-418.
- Fahnestock, J.T., and J.K. Detling. 1999a. Plant responses to defoliation and resource supplementation in the Pryor Mountains. Journal of Range Management 52: 263-270.
- Fahnestock, J.T., and J.K. Detling. 1999b. The influence of herbivory on plant cover and species composition in the Pryor Mountain Wild Horse Range, USA. Plant Ecology 144:145-157.
- Fahnestock, J.T., and J.K. Detling. 2000. Morphological and physiological responses of perennial grasses to long-term grazing in the Pryor Mountains, Montana. The American Midland Naturalist. 143:312-320.
- Frank, D.A. 2005. The interactive effects of grazing ungulates and aboveground production on grassland diversity. Oecologia 143:629-634.
- Friedel, M.H. 1991. Range condition assessment and the concept of thresholds: A viewpoint. Journal of Range Management 44:422-426.
- Furbish, C.E., and M. Albano. 1994. Selective herbivory and plant community structure in a mid-Atlantic salt marsh. Ecology 75:1015-1022.
- Ganskopp, D., and M. Vavra. 1986. Habitat use by feral horses in the northern sagebrush steppe. Journal of Range Management 39:207-212.
- Gerhardt, T. 2000. Plant cover species richness in the Pryor Mountain Wild Horse Range—1998. In: Singer, F.J., Schoenecker, K.A. (Eds.), Managers' Summary—Ecological Studies of the Pryor Mountain Wild Horse Range, 1992–1997. US Geological Survey, Midcontinent Ecological Science Center, Fort Collins, pp. 63–69.
- Gerhardt, T., and J. Detling. 2000. Summary of vegetation dynamics at the Pryor Mountain Wild Horse Range— 1992–1996. Pages 3-36 in F.J. Singer and K.A. Schoenecker, editors. Managers' summary—Ecological studies of the Pryor Mountain Wild Horse Range, 1992–1997. US Geological Survey, Midcontinent Ecological Science Center, Fort Collins, CO.
- Gwynne, M.D., and R.H.V. Bell. 1968. Selection of vegetation components by grazing ungulates in the Serengeti National Park. Nature 220:390-393.
- Hanley, T.A. 1982. The nutritional basis for food selection by ungulates. Journal of Range Management 35:146-151.
- Hanley, T.A., and K.A. Hanley. 1982. Food resource partitioning by sympatric ungulates on Great Basin rangeland. Journal of Range Management. 35:152-158.
- Hobbs, N.T. 1996. Modification of ecosystems by ungulates. Journal of Wildlife Management 60:695-713.
- Holechek, J.L. 1988. An approach for setting the stocking rate. Rangelands 10:10-14.
- Janis, C. 1976. The evolutionary strategy of the Equidae and the origins of rumen and cecal digestion. Evolution 30:757-774.
- Jones, A. 2000. Effects of cattle grazing on North American arid ecosystems: A quantitative review. Western North American Naturalist 60:155-164.
- Joyce, L.A. 1993. The life cycle of the range condition concept. Journal of Range Management 46:132-138.
- Kauffman, J.B., and W.C. Krueger. 1984. Livestock impacts on riparian ecosystems and streamside management implications ... A review. Journal of Range Management 37:430-438.
- Knapp, A.K., J.M. Blair, J.M. Briggs, S.L. Collins, D.C. Hartnett, L.C. Johnson, and E.G. Towne. 1999. The keystone role of bison in North American tallgrass prairie. BioScience 49:39-50.
- Koerner, S.E., M.D. Smith, D.E. Burkepile, M.L. Avolio, S.L. Collins, A.K. Knapp, N.P. Lemoine, E. J. Forrestel, and The Grazing Exclosure Consortium. In prep. Changes in dominance drive global variation in herbivore effects on grassland diversity.
- Laycock, W.A. 1991. Stable states and thresholds of range condition on North American rangelands: A viewpoint. Journal of Range Management 44: 472-433.
- Lemoine, N.P., J. Sheffield, J.S. Dukes., A.K. Knapp, and M.D. Smith. 2016. Terrestrial Precipitation Analysis (TPA): A resource for characterizing long-term precipitation regimes and extremes. Methods in Ecology and Evolution.
- Levin, P.S., J. Ellis, R. Petrik, and M.E. Hay. 2002. Indirect effects of feral horses on estuarine communities. Conservation Biology 16:1364-1371.
- Lezama, F., S. Baeza, A. Altesor, A. Cesa, E.J. Chaneton, and J.M. Paruelo. 2014. Variation of grazinginduced vegetation changes across a large-scale productivity gradient. Journal of Vegetation Science 25:8-21.
- McNaughton, S.J. 1979. Grazing as an optimization process: Grass-ungulate relationships in the Serengeti. The American Naturalist 113: 691-703.
- Menard, C., P. Duncan, G. Fleurance, J. Georges, and M. Lila. 2002. Comparative foraging and nutrition of horses and cattle in European wetlands. Journal of Applied Ecology 39:120-133.
- Menke, J., and G.E. Bradford. 1992. Rangelands. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 42:141-163.
- Milchunas, D.G., O.E. Sala, and W.K. Lauenroth. 1988. A generalized model of the effects of grazing by large herbivores on grassland community structure. The American Naturalist 132:87-106.
- Milchunas, D.G., and W.K. Lauenroth. 1993. Quantitative effects of grazing on vegetation and soils over a global range of environments. Ecological Monographs 63:327-366.

- National Research Council (NRC). 2013. Using science to improve the BLM wild horse and burro program: A way forward. The National Academies Press, Washington, DC.
- Nimmo, D.G., and K.K. Miller. 2007. Ecological and human dimensions of management of feral horses in Australia: a review. Wildlife Research 34:408-417.
- Natural Resource Conservation Service (NRCS). 2016. Web soil survey. Available from: http://websoilsurvey.sc.egov.usda.gov/App/HomePage.htm.
- Ostermann-Kelm, S.D., E.A. Atwill, E.S. Rubin, L.E. Hendrickson, and W.M. Boyce. 2009. Impacts of feral horses on a desert environment. BMC Ecology 9:22.
- Petersen, K.L. 1994. Modern and Pleistocene climatic patterns in the west. Pages 27-53 in K.T. Harper, L.L. St. Clair, K.H. Thorne and W.M. Hess, editors. Natural History of the Colorado Plateau and Great Basin, University Press of Colorado, Niwot, CO.
- Rogers, G.M. 1991. Kaimanawa feral horses and their environmental impacts. New Zealand Journal of Ecology 15:49-64.
- Sarr, D.A. 2002. Riparian livestock exclosure research in the western United States: A critique and some recommendations. Environmental Management 30:516-526.
- Scasta, D. 2014. Dietary composition and conflicts of livestock and wildlife on rangeland. University of Wyoming Extension report B-1260. University of Wyoming, Laramie, WY.
- Seliskar, D.M. 2003. The response of Ammophila breviligulata and Spartina patens (Poaceae) to grazing by feral horses on a dynamic mid-Atlantic barrier island. American Journal of Botany 90:1038-1044.
- Stohlgren, T.J., L.D. Schell, and B. Vanden Heuvel. 1999. How grazing and soil quality affect native and exotic plant diversity in Rocky Mountain grasslands. Ecological Applications 1:45-64.
- Symanski, R. 1994. Contested realities: Feral horses in outback Australia. Annals of the Association of American Geographers 84:251-269.
- Tastad, A.C. 2013. The relative effects of grazing by bison and cattle on plant community heterogeneity in northern mixed prairie. Master's thesis, University of Manitoba.
- Turner, M.G. 1987. Effects of grazing by feral horses, clipping, trampling, and burning on a Georgia salt marsh. Estuaries 10: 54-60.
- Turner, M.G. 1988. Simulation and management implications of feral horse grazing on Cumberland Island, Georgia. Journal of Range Management 41: 441-447.
- Villalobos, A.E., and S.M. Zalba. 2010. Continuous feral horse grazing and grazing exclusion in mountain Pampean grasslands in Argentina. Acta Oecologia 36:514-519.
- Von Wehrden, H., J. Hanspach, P. Kaczensky, J. Fischer, and K. Wesche. 2012. Global assessment of the non-equilibrium concept in rangelands. Ecological Applications 22:393-399.
- Westoby, M., B. Walker, and I. Noy-Meir. 1989. Opportunistic management for rangelands not at equilibrium. 42:266-274.
- Wood, G.W., M. Mengak, and M.T. Murphy. 1987. Ecological importance of feral ungulates at Shackleford Banks, North Carolina. The American Midland Naturalist 118:236-244.

APPENDIX: SUPPLEMENTARY TABLE

Supplementary Table 1: Diversity, richness evenness and dominance (with standard errors) per plot with and without horses for Clan Alpine in 2014.

| Site | Treatment | Diversity | Diversity SE | Richness | Richness SE | Evenness | Evenness SE | Dominance | Dominance SE |
|------|----------------|-------------|--------------|----------|-------------|----------|-------------|-------------|--------------|
| CA | Without horses | 3.200987432 | 0.173632556 | 4.82 | 0.46 | 0.708278 | 0.0366145 | 0.538904458 | 0.00728067 |
| CA | With horses | 2.176439341 | 0.747375628 | 2.84 | 1.28 | 0.536421 | 0.189395172 | 0.671912353 | 0.090523183 |

Search for more papers by this author

A. J. NOLAN

Macaulay Institute and

Search for more papers by this author

D. COPE

Macaulay Institute and

Present address: Defra, Sustainable Energy Policy Division, 123 Victoria Street, London SW1E 6DE, UK.

Search for more papers by this author

First published: 09 May 2007 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2007.01318.x Citations: <u>43</u> S.D. Albon, Macaulay Institute, Craigiebuckler, Aberdeen AB15 8QH, UK. E-mail <u>s.albon@macaulay.ac.uk</u>

<u>About</u>

Sections



<u>Tools</u>

- <u>Request permission</u>
- Export citation
- Add to favorites
- <u>Track citation</u>

<u>ShareShare</u> Give access

Share full text access

Share full-text access

Please review our <u>Terms and Conditions of Use</u> and check box below to share full-text version of article.

 $\Box I$ have read and accept the Wiley Online Library Terms and Conditions of Use

Shareable Link

Use the link below to share a full-text version of this article with your friends and colleagues. <u>Learn</u> <u>more.</u>

Share a link

Share on

- Email
- Facebook
- Twitter
- Linked In
- Reddit
- Wechat

Summary

• 1

Rangelands, produced by grazing herbivores, are important for a variety of agricultural, hunting, recreation and conservation objectives world-wide. Typically, there is little quantitative evidence regarding the magnitude of the grazing impact of different herbivores on rangeland habitats to inform their management.

• 2

We quantified the grazing and trampling impact of sheep, cattle, red deer *Cervus elaphus*, rabbits *Oryctolagus cuniculus*, mountain hares *Lepus timidus* and red grouse *Lagopus lagopus* on open-hill habitats in 11 areas of upland Scotland. The degradation of heather in upland Scotland *Calluna vulgaris*-dominated habitats, of conservation significance at a European scale, has been attributed, anecdotally, to increasing sheep and red deer populations.

• 3

Field indicators of habitat condition were used to generate a five-point scale of impact in vegetation polygons of seven habitats. The presence of each herbivore species was attributed on the basis of 'signs' of occupancy. A Bayesian regression model was used to analyse the association of herbivore species with grazing impact on plant communities, controlling for environmental attributes.

• 4

Overall the presence of sheep was associated with the largest increase (7/11 areas) in grazing and trampling impact of all herbivores. Cattle had the second largest impact but generally this

was restricted to fewer areas and habitats than sheep. In contrast, impacts associated with wild herbivores tended to be small and only significant locally.

• 5

Although red deer presence was associated with a significantly lower impact than sheep, this impact increased with increasing deer density at both land-ownership and regional scales. For sheep there was little or no evidence of density dependence.

• 6

Synthesis and applications. The higher impact associated with sheep presence probably reflects their greater aggregation because of their limited ranging behaviour, exacerbated by sheep being herded in places convenient for land managers. Consequently, future reductions in sheep numbers as a result of reform of European Union farming policies may limit the extent of their impact, but not necessarily the local magnitude. However, reductions in sheep stocks may lead to increases in deer densities, with greater impact, particularly in heather-dominated habitats. Where habitat conservation is a priority this may well require a reduction in deer numbers.

Introduction

Across many parts of the world, vertebrate herbivores influence the structure, composition and functioning of ecosystems (Hobbs 1996; Augustine & McNaughton 1998). The rangelands that result from grazing and browsing are an important resource, managed for a variety of agricultural, forestry, hunting, recreation and conservation objectives (Gordon, Hester & Festa-Bianchet 2004). However, while there has been much progress in collaborative management in recent times, these multiple objectives can lead to conflicts, including habitat degradation as a result of over-grazing (Hallanaro & Usher 2005; Mysterud 2006). For example, in upland Scotland since the Second World War the extent of heather-dominated vegetation communities and semi-natural grasslands has declined markedly (Tudor & Mackey 1995), primarily because of afforestation and agricultural reclamation (Miles 1988). A direct consequence of these changes in land use has been increasing concentrations of stocks of sheep and red deer on the remaining habitat, highlighting concerns about grazing and trampling impacts, in particular to dwarf-shrub heath, blanket bog and montane plant communities (Sydes & Miller 1988; Staines, Balharry & Welch 1995). While there has been a growing awareness of the national and international importance of such habitats for the conservation of biodiversity (Thompson et al. 1995), there has been no previous attempt to quantify simultaneously the relative grazing impacts associated with different herbivore species using these rangelands (Clutton-Brock, Coulson & Milner 2004).

The total sheep stock in Scotland increased from 6·9 million (M) in 1945 to 8·6 M in 1965, before declining by about 12% to 7·5 M over the next decade (annual agricultural statistics, Department of Agriculture for Scotland and Department of Agriculture and Fisheries for Scotland, UK). The size of the national flock rose again after the UK joined the European Common Market in 1973. to peak at more than 9·4 M in the early 1990s, although in some parts of the country numbers did not exceed the 1965 peak (annual agricultural statistics, Scottish Office Agriculture and Fisheries Department and

Scottish Executive, UK). In upland Scotland most sheep are kept on enclosed, improved pastures at lower altitudes for much of the year. However, in summer the widespread practice is to allow sheep flocks free-range access to the semi-natural vegetation above the enclosed land. In some areas cattle may also be given access to the same unenclosed land, although they tend to roam less widely. Typically these open-hill rangelands are privately owned and often managed as sporting estates, with red deer being the main quarry species across the country (Wightman & Higgins 2001). In central and eastern Scotland, many estates are managed primarily for red grouse shooting. Here mountain hares may be sufficiently numerous to be hunted as well, but usually on a less systematic basis (Hewson 1976).

Estimates of red deer population sizes were not collected systematically in Scotland until 1960, following the establishment of the Red Deer Commission (now Deer Commission for Scotland). Analysis of repeat counts at landscape scales (deer subpopulations, 100–2000 km²) suggest that from the mid-1960s red deer increased steadily to average 14 deer km⁻² in 1986, 40% higher than in 1961 (<u>Clutton-Brock & Albon 1989</u>). In 1986, deer densities differed between areas of Scotland by an order of magnitude, with both the spatial and temporal variation in density correlating negatively with sheep stocks (<u>Clutton-Brock & Albon 1989</u>). Red deer numbers may still be growing but both the rate of this increase and their impact on the natural heritage are disputed (<u>Hunt 2003; Clutton-Brock, Coulson & Milner 2004</u>).

In this study, we quantified the grazing and trampling impacts associated with six different herbivore species on seven semi-natural, open-hill habitats, in 11 upland areas of Scotland. The five-point scale impact data we analysed were recorded at the vegetation polygon (patch) scale (down to 250 m²) of the different habitats (<u>Brewer *et al.* 2004</u>). First, we described how the estimated grazing impact scores were associated with the presence/absence (not recorded present) of sheep, cattle, red deer, mountain hares, rabbits and red grouse recorded at the same patch scale as plant communities.

Secondly, we explored whether it is possible to detect differences in grazing impact associated with the presence of sheep vs. red deer. Given the two species have similar feeding niches (Milne *et al.* 1976) because of their similar body size and gut morphology, it would initially appear problematic to detect differences in grazing impact. However, Hofmann (1989) categorized sheep as 'grazers' and red deer as 'intermediate feeders' selecting a diet of browse and graze. Research investigating detailed foraging behaviour in heather–grass mosaics suggested that, compared with deer, sheep are more selective of grass species, but at grass–dwarf-shrub heath boundaries sheep have similar impacts on heather as deer, particularly where the patchwork is fine grained (Clarke, Welch & Gordon 1995; Hester *et al.* 1999). In general, however, red deer grazing impacts on heather are more diffuse (Palmer *et al.* 2003).

Thirdly, we investigated the relationships between estimated impact on vegetation and the stocking rates of sheep and counts of red deer for land management units $(10-100 \text{ km}^2)$ available for two areas of Scotland. Finally, we demonstrated that estimates of mean impact within habitats at the largest landscape scales (> 500 km²) are related to the mean density of deer in these different areas across Scotland.

The implications of these results are discussed in terms of a more integrated approach to the management of herbivores on rangelands, recognizing the potential conflicts arising from contrasting objectives of different land managers. In addition, we discuss future research priorities to provide the evidence base for adaptive management targeted at more specific outcomes, in particular the enhancement of biodiversity.

Materials and methods

grazing and trampling impact assessment

Grazing and trampling impacts were assessed in 11 deer management group (DMG) areas between 1997 and 2003 (Fig. 1), following a standard method of surveying the impacts of grazing, browsing and trampling by larger herbivores in upland habitats (MacDonald *et al.* 1998). This approach provides a means of recording the state of habitats using descriptive classes, focusing on directly observable effects. The methodology uses a series of field indicators for each habitat type, including biomass removal, sward height and structure, selectivity of grazing, accumulation of plant litter, physical damage and dung.

Figure 1 <u>Open in figure viewerPowerPoint</u>

The name and location of the 11 deer management group (DMG) areas in which herbivore grazing and trampling impacts were surveyed (year of survey after the name) and the distribution of impact scores (L, light; L/M, light/moderate; M, moderate; M/H, moderate/heavy; H, heavy) for *n*= vegetation polygons sampled within each DMG. The percentage of vegetation polygons in each habitat is shown in <u>Table 1</u>.

For each field indicator, such as the proportion of long shoots of heather browsed and the extent of trampling damage, a number of alternative states were described, relating to light, moderate and heavy (L, M, H, respectively) impacts (see Table S1 in the supplementary material). The standard field survey sample area of upland habitat was 0.25 km^2 (25 ha). Each indicator was assessed separately, based on a number of point estimates, and an overall assessment, derived for a particular habitat type, was averaged across all indicators. As all three impact classes (L, M and H) could be observed within a part-polygon, a method of summarizing the impact across a habitat was devised that took into account the spatial heterogeneity. This was based on the percentage of the area occupied by each impact class (see Appendix S1 in the supplementary material) and had the effect of smoothing the three-class impact scale into a more continuous five-point scale by introducing intermediate classes (L/M and M/H). Where a number of discrete plant communities occurred within the sample area, they were all assessed separately.

The impact assessments were made for seven upland open-hill habitats based on the Land Cover Scotland 1988 (LCS88) data set (<u>MLURI 1993</u>). (i) Blanket bog, dominated by common cotton-grass *Eriophorum vaginatum* L., bog mosses *Sphagnum* spp. and heather. (ii) Dwarf-shrub heath, either dry

heath, dominated by heather or blaeberry *Vaccinium myrtillus* L., or wet heath, dominated by crossleaved heath *Erica tetralix* L. and deer-grass *Trichophorum cespitosum* L. Hereafter, these are both called Heath. (iii) Coarse grassland, characterized by species such as mat-grass *Nardus stricta* L., purple moor-grass *Molinia caerulea* L. and tufted hair-grass *Deschampsia cespitosa* L. (iv) Montane Grassland, wind-clipped grass/sedge/moss heath, with a range of species including stiff sedge *Carex bigelowii* L., blaeberry, woolly fringe moss *Racomitrium lanuginosum* L., and a variety of smooth grasses. (v) Montane heath, wind-clipped heath, dominated by heather. (vi) Smooth grassland, dominated by common bent *Agrostis capillaries* L. and sheep's-fescue *Festuca ovina* L. (bent-fescue grassland). (vii) Smooth grassland with bracken or rushes, dominated by bent-fescue grassland with bracken *Pteridium aquilinum* L. and/or rush *Juncus* spp.

Three of the 11 DMG (Table 1) were sampled on a 0.25-km² complete-coverage basis, where assessments were made for all the part-polygons of the main habitats present that occupied more than 10% of any 0.25-km² sample area (Brewer *et al.* 2004). In the other eight DMG, 0.25-km² sample squares were selected in a random stratified approach to provide data for management planning over extensive areas (200–1000 km²) in a more rapid and cost-effective manner (Nolan *et al.* 2003). A geographical information system (GIS)-based computer model was used to select 0.25-km² sample areas of different habitats randomly, ensuring that the strata also took account of land-management units within and between estates. In practice this reduced field sampling to between 12% and 21% of the total area (Table 1).

Table 1. Summary survey details for each deer management group (DMG). In 1997 and 1998, surveys were done in smaller DMG in which all 0.25 km² were surveyed. From 1999 onwards, between 12% and 21% (median 17%) of the total area was surveyed. The percentage vegetation (BB, blanket bog; H, heath CG, coarse grassland; MG, montane grassland; MH, montane heath; SG, smooth grassland; SR, smooth grassland with bracken and/or rushes) is based on polygons and not on an area basis

| | | Total Sampling | | Number | % vegetation | | | | | | |
|------------------------|------|----------------------------|---------------|-----------------------|--------------|----------|-------------|-----|------|-----|-----|
| DMG | Year | area (km ²) | intensity (%) | vegetation polygon | BB | Н | CG | MG | MH | SG | SR |
| West Sutherland | 2000 | 1136 | 14 | 836 | 39∙ 6 | 41∙ 3 | 7·2 | 2.7 | 3.1 | 5.3 | 0.9 |
| Northern | 1999 | 1318 | 12 | 1182 | 45∙ 5 | 38· 6 | 4.8 | 0.0 | 1.9 | 4·0 | 5∙2 |
| North Ross | 2001 | 771 | 17 | 819 | 35∙ 3 | 42∙ 3 | 5.0 | 4·2 | 5.6 | 5.7 | 1.9 |
| East Sutherland | 2000 | 1006 | 17 | 972 | 44∙ 8 | 38∙ 9 | 4 ∙3 | 0.2 | 2.2 | 6.5 | 3.2 |
| Gairloch | 1998 | 346 | 100 | 2651 | 33∙ 7 | 53∙ 8 | 0.7 | 2.2 | 7.2 | 1.9 | 0.5 |
| Cairngorm– Speyside | 1997 | 420 | 100 | 2041 | 28∙ 5 | 48∙ 2 | 4·8 | 2.9 | 10.1 | 4·8 | 0.6 |
| South Ross | 2000 | 1611 | 18 | 2072 | 27∙ 9 | 39∙ 2 | 10∙ 2 | 6.6 | 6.4 | 6.8 | 2.9 |

| DMC | Vent | Total | Sampling | ing Number | | % vegetation | | | | | |
|-------------------------|------|-------|---------------|------------|----------|--------------|----------|-------------|-----|----------|-----|
| DMG | rear | area | intensity (%) | vegetation | BB | Η | CG | MG | MH | SG | SR |
| West Grampian | 2002 | 710 | 21 | 969 | 26∙ 5 | 41∙ 2 | 10∙ 5 | 4 ∙5 | 6.8 | 8.6 | 2.0 |
| Mid-West Association | 2003 | 629 | 16 | 719 | 31∙ 0 | 39∙ 3 | 15∙ 7 | 4.6 | 3.8 | 4.6 | 0.9 |
| Angus Glens | 1999 | 620 | 21 | 1067 | 14∙ 9 | 42∙ 8 | 13∙ 9 | 3.8 | 2.5 | 12∙ 1 | 9.9 |
| South Loch Tay | 1998 | 148 | 100 | 3437 | 18∙ 6 | 33∙ 5 | 24· 7 | 3.1 | 4.8 | 11∙ 9 | 3.5 |

Aspect, altitude and slope were determined for each part-polygon in ArcGIS 8·3 using a digital elevation model, reproduced from map data by permission of Ordnance Survey (© Crown copyright reference MLURI GD27237X 2006), with a resolution of 50×50 m. An index of topographic exposure (TOPEX) was calculated for each part-polygon as the sum of angle to the skyline in degrees, for the eight cardinal directions. Dominant soil type for each part-polygon was determined from an overlay of soil types from the 1 : 250 000 survey of the soils of Scotland (Macauley Institute for Soil Research 1984). The presence of burning was recorded in the field for each part-polygon of vegetation, assessed on a four-point scale of no-burning and the presence of small (< 2 ha), medium (2–5 ha) or large (> 5 ha) burns.

herbivore presence

Within each part-polygon, the presence/absence (not recorded present) of each species of herbivore was attributed on the basis of a range of 'signs' of occupancy, including visual sighting, evidence of recent animal presence (strands of wool, hair or feathers on vegetation, lying-up areas, animal tracks, trampling and thrashing of heather and burrows, etc.) and the presence of dung. While it was recognized that the identification of some species based on dung (notably deer/sheep) can be problematic, this was very rarely used as the sole criterion for differentiating animal presence. Surveyors carrying out the impact assessments were experienced in the identification of animal dung and calibrated their observations, aided by field guides describing animal species from tracks, signs and dung. As there may have been some 'false negatives', where a species recorded absent had been present but went undetected, we refer to 'recorded' presence and absence.

sheep and deer density estimates

After 2000, information on livestock management (numbers, grazing regime, etc.) was collected at the estate (separate landowner/management units) level. Specifically for sheep, we sought data on numbers and the period they were free-ranging on the open-hill. Given that some flocks were out all year and others for different periods of the summer, we calculated densities as total year equivalents divided by the area of the estate and the proportion of vegetation polygons in which sheep were recorded present, and expressed this as number km^{-2} . The most recent deer counts, between 0 and 3 years prior to the survey, were supplied by the Deer Commission for Scotland, divided by the unit land area, and

expressed as number km⁻². For comparisons with sheep, we divided the density by the proportion of vegetation polygons occupied. As the distribution of habitat types differed between DMG (<u>Table 1</u>), we investigated deer density as an explanatory variable for the geographical variation between DMG in estimated mean impact scores within habitats.

statistical analysis

The ordered categorical (ordinal, five-point scale) response variable was modelled as described in <u>Agresti (1984</u>), where impact is a continuous entity on a five-point scale. Mathematically, this translates to a partitioning of the real number line by four cut-points that separate out the five response classes: light, light/moderate, moderate, moderate/heavy and heavy. This is preferable to simply assigning numerical values to the impact classes and treating this as a continuous response variable, or fitting a multinomial model that ignores the ordering of the classes.

A Bayesian regression analysis accounting for the ordinal response, similar to that of Brewer *et al.* (2004), was used to identify explanatory variables. The response impact class from the *i*th part-polygon (e.g. *i*= 1, ..., 2072 for Cairngorm–Speyside) in grid square *j* (*j* = 1, ..., 1176 for Cairngorm–Speyside) could thus be assigned an integer value between 1 and 5, called R_{ij} , that corresponded with the five classes listed above (in order). The impact class can be expressed in terms of a continuous latent variable, Y_{ii} (representing the underlying continuous grazing impact), taking values as follows:

$$R_{ij} = k \text{ if}$$

 $Y_{ij} \in [a_{k-1} (a_k), k = 1, ..., 5]$

where a_k represents the cut-off points separating the classes, with $a_0 = -8$ and $a_5 = 8$. Further technical details of the statistical model can be found in the supplementary material. Unlike <u>Brewer *et al.* (2004</u>), variograms of the unstructured spatial effects suggested no need to account specifically for spatial autocorrelation.

The model included the following ecological and environmental variables as covariates. Herbivore factors: sheep, deer, cattle, hares, rabbits, grouse; with interactions sheep + deer, sheep + rabbits, deer + rabbits, hares + grouse (given the large number of potential interactions these were chosen as the most worthy of exploring). Habitat factors: vegetation community (seven levels). Interactions between herbivores and habitats. Other environmental factors, including: aspect (four levels, north, east, south and west); muirburn (four levels of burning); dominant soil categories (up to 21 levels). Environmental covariates: altitude; slope; TOPEX. Human-defined factors: estate/landownership unit.

Our model included this broad set of variables so that we could be more confident that estimated herbivore effects really were because of the herbivores and not unexplained ecological and environmental variables. OpenBUGS (<u>Thomas 2004</u>) was used to analyse the data fitting the above model. As there were a large number of explanatory variables, it was not always possible to fit all the terms, or all levels of all the factors, because certain combinations did not occur in the data sets for particular DMG. Thus some effects were not estimable; this was true of some of the interaction terms between herbivore presence and habitat where very small numbers of part-polygons recording presence

(or absence) of the herbivore led to complicated patterns of aliasing. As a rule of thumb, the interaction term for a herbivore—habitat combination was not fitted if fewer than five part-polygons for that habitat were recorded as having the herbivore present (or absent). This was a particular problem for rabbits, where we were only able to estimate the grazing effects in five of 11 DMG. Also, in two of the DMG, North Ross and West Grampian, deer presence was recorded in nearly all part-polygons, and hence the effect of deer could not be estimated. Because the Bayesian approach was computer intensive, requiring many runs for different DMG and subsets of variables, we ran OpenBUGS on a Beowulf Linux cluster.

As the parameter estimates were on the logistic scale, and difficult to interpret, we found that a convenient way to represent the effects of the recorded presence compared with apparent absence of a herbivore species was the estimated change in the probability of observing an impact class of 'Moderate' or worse. For example, in the Northern (NO) DMG, the predicted impact of the presence of sheep on blanket bog was 0.42 (Fig. 3). This metric enabled a useful comparison in terms of comparing impact classes across DMG and habitat types, and was likely to be more useful than standard 'proportional odds' statements.

Figure 3 <u>Open in figure viewerPowerPoint</u>

The impact of the presence of deer (closed circles) and sheep (open circles) across the 11 DMG by habitat. The bars display 95% (2·5–97·5%) credible intervals. Where the mean is positive and the credible interval does not include zero, the probability of increasing impact with the presence of a particular herbivore is significant. If the credible interval touches zero then the significance is marginal. Where the credible interval includes zero, the overall impact is not significant because of the variance between polygons within habitats. The letters D and S beneath the bars denote that the herbivore by habitat interaction term was not estimable for that DMG and habitat for deer or sheep, respectively. The asterisks above the bars signify that there was a significant difference between the effects of sheep and deer for that DMG and habitat; these were all in the direction of sheep having a greater impact on vegetation than deer. It was not possible to estimate deer effects in North Ross (NR) or West Grampian (WG).

Results

herbivore species distribution

Deer were the herbivore most frequently recorded as present in vegetation polygons in all DMG (median 90·1%, interquartile range $81\cdot3-96\cdot6\%$), except South Loch Tay (74·0%), where evidence of sheep occurred in 96·3% of vegetation polygons (<u>Table 2</u>). Overall sheep were the second most frequently recorded herbivore (median 42·5%, interquartile range 26·6–55·5%). Evidence of deer and sheep using the same vegetation polygons was common (median 31%, interquartile range 22·9–55·3%)

but rarely were neither recorded (median 2.4%). Cattle were an order of magnitude less frequently recorded than sheep (median 2.9%), reflecting their comparatively low numbers.

Table 2. The percentage of vegetation polygons (sample size given in <u>Table 1</u>) in each deer management group (DMG) area in which different herbivores were recorded. For each DMG the first four columns total 100%

| DMG | % with no deer or sheep | % sheep only | % deer only | % both deer and sheep | % cattle | % hares | % rabbits | % grouse |
|-------------------------|-------------------------------|-----------------|----------------|-----------------------------|----------|-------------|-----------|----------|
| West Sutherland | 5.7 | 3.9 | 67.6 | 22.7 | 1.8 | 1.1 | 0.5 | 8·1 |
| Northern | 5.0 | 12.1 | 39.9 | 43.0 | 3.8 | 22.0 | 2.4 | 37.5 |
| North Ross | 0.1 | 0 | 69.6 | 30.3 | 5.0 | 1.9 | 9.8 | 1.6 |
| East Sutherland | 2.1 | 4·2 | 55•4 | 38.3 | 3.4 | 3.1 | 4.9 | 20.4 |
| Gairloch | 3.2 | 15.5 | 50.2 | 31.0 | 8.7 | 4 ·1 | 1.2 | 27.5 |
| South Ross | 2.2 | 1.2 | 84.3 | 12.4 | 3.4 | 5.6 | 1.5 | 17.5 |
| Cairngorm– Speyside | 8.2 | 10.5 | 58.4 | 22.9 | 0.8 | 75.4 | 13.7 | 74·2 |
| West Grampian | 0.3 | 0.2 | 44·2 | 55.3 | 2.1 | 36.8 | 1.8 | 46.7 |
| Mid-West Association | 1.7 | 1.7 | 73.2 | 23.5 | 4.0 | 6.3 | 0.3 | 29.6 |
| Angus | 2.4 | 20.7 | 20.8 | 56.0 | 1.5 | 69·1 | 25.7 | 60.3 |
| South Loch Tay | 2.4 | 23.6 | 1.3 | 72.7 | 1.9 | 89.5 | 20.8 | 61.6 |

Among the smaller herbivores, evidence of grouse was most frequently recorded in vegetation polygons (median 29.6%). The wide interquartile range (17.5-60.3%) reflected changes in abundance across Scotland, as drier heather moor becomes more extensive and management intensifies from west to east. Hare presence (median 6.3%) appeared to have more of a bimodal distribution across DMG (around values of 3.1% and 69.1%, respectively). Like grouse, hares tended to be less frequently recorded in the west of Scotland and more frequently recorded in the central and east of Scotland. Rabbits were generally less common than hares in nine of the 11 DMG (median 2.4%), probably reflecting the fact that they prefer lower lying enclosed land with drier, mineral soils. Where Smooth grassland and heath habitats occurred close to these environments, as in some DMG in eastern Scotland, rabbit presence was recorded comparatively frequently (<u>Table 2</u>).

grazing and trampling impacts of different herbivore species

Averaged across all DMG, the highest predicted (median) impact was associated with the recorded presence of sheep (Fig. 2). The estimated impact of sheep was the highest of all herbivores in seven of the 11 DMG and significantly greater than zero in a further two (see Fig. S1 in the supplementary material). The second highest predicted impact was associated with the recorded presence of cattle

(Fig. 2), with the impact greater than that associated with sheep in two DMG and significantly greater than zero in a further two (see Fig. S1 in the supplementary material). The third highest predicted impact was associated with the recorded presence of rabbits (Fig. 2). However, these tended to be localized effects and generally were more discernible in DMG in eastern Scotland; in particular, they tended to be associated with Smooth grassland habitats (see Appendix S1 in the supplementary material). In Angus DMG, rabbit was the only herbivore associated with a significant predicted impact averaged across all habitats. For hares, the average predicted impact associated with their recorded presence was very small (Fig. 2). However, in one DMG, East Sutherland, hares did have a significant effect, though this was smaller than either sheep or cattle (see Fig. S1 in the supplementary material). Closer inspection of the herbivore–habitat interaction terms in the fitted models suggested that in some other DMG relatively heavy hare impacts were restricted to Heath.

Figure 2 <u>Open in figure viewerPowerPoint</u>

The median (with 5–95% ranges) grazing and trampling impacts associated with the recorded presence of each herbivore species, averaged across all DMG and all habitats. Results for individual DMG are given in Fig. S1 in the supplementary material.

In contrast, the average predicted impact associated with the recorded presence of red deer and red grouse tended to be negative (Fig. 2) Thus the vegetation polygons having signs of red deer presence had predicted impact scores lower than similar vegetation polygons without signs of their presence. However, in one DMG, Cairngorm–Speyside, the recorded presence of red deer did tend to increase the predicted impact, although this was smaller than either sheep or cattle (see Fig. S1 in the supplementary material). Closer inspection of the herbivore–habitat interaction terms in the fitted model for Cairngorm–Speyside suggested that red deer impacts were significant in five of seven habitats (Fig. 3).

comparing sheep and deer impacts by habitat

The presence of sheep tended to most frequently have a significant impact on Smooth grassland habitat across Scotland (10 of 11 DMG were significantly impacted), and least frequently on Blanket bog (five of 11 DMG) (Fig. 3). As described above, the presence of deer tended to be more diffuse. Overall there was a significant impact in only seven of 63 (11·1%) habitat–DMG combinations (two on Blanket bog but none on Coarse grassland) for deer compared with 58 of 77 (73·5%) for sheep (Fig. 3). A more detailed description is given in Appendix S2 in the supplementary material.

In 40 of 63 (63·5%) habitat–DMG combinations, where both red deer and sheep impacts could be estimated, the predicted impact of the recorded presence of sheep was significantly greater than the predicted impact of deer (Fig. 3). In contrast, in only one of all the 63 (1·6%) habitat–DMG combinations, Blanket bog in Cairngorm–Speyside, was the predicted impact of the recorded presence of deer significantly greater than sheep (P = 0.045; see Table S2 in the supplementary material).

sheep and deer impacts at local stocking densities

For East Sutherland and West Grampian, the only two DMG for which both sheep and deer density estimates were available at the estate scale, non-linear (asymptotic) regression revealed that the predicted impact associated with the presence of deer increased significantly with deer density, whereas the estimated impact associated with the presence of sheep tended not to vary with sheep density (Fig. 4). Thus, even at apparently low local densities, sheep had a pronounced impact compared with low densities of deer. However, in West Grampian, where predicted impacts were generally higher than in East Sutherland, at densities over 40 animals km⁻² deer had similar impacts to sheep (Fig. 4b).

Figure 4 <u>Open in figure viewerPowerPoint</u>

The mean grazing and trampling impact scores associated with sheep (open circles) and deer (closed circles) estimated for different land management units (estates) within (a) East Sutherland DMG and (b) West Grampian DMG, plotted against the density of each herbivore on each estate. The fitted asymptotic regressions for sheep and deer are significantly different in both DMG.

deer impact and density at regional scales

The distribution of grazing and trampling impact scores differed significantly between the 11 DMG areas ($\chi^2 = 2928$, d.f. = 40, P < 0.001). Impact scores tended to be lower in the DMG in the north and west of the Highlands and higher in the south and east of the Highlands (Fig. 1). In three habitats (Blanket bog, Heath and Coarse grassland), the fitted asymptotic regression indicated that deer population density explained a significant proportion of the variation in mean impact between DMG ($r^2 = 0.5561$, 0.6891 and 0.2845, respectively; Fig. 5a–c). However, on Smooth grassland with bracken and/or rushes (Fig. 5d) and three others not shown (Smooth grassland, Montane grassland, and Montane heath), deer density did not explain the variation in estimated impact.

Figure 5

Open in figure viewerPowerPoint

The estimated mean grazing and trampling impact scores within each of the 11 DMG plotted against the deer density from counts by the Deer Commission for Scotland, for (a) Blanket bog (y = 0.9042 ln(x) – 0.246), (b) Heath (y = 1.1003 ln(x) + 0.0502), (c) Coarse grassland (y = 0.6284 ln(x) + 0.505) and (d) Smooth grassland with rushes and/or bracken (y = 0.558 ln(x) + 1.7683).

Discussion

The rapid habitat assessment methods and subsequent analyses detected differences in the grazing and trampling impacts associated with different herbivore species at a variety of scales, ranging from land

management/ownership units (10–100 km²) to subregional (deer population) scales (500–2000 km²) between areas of Scotland. At larger scales it was also possible to identify interactions between herbivores and habitats, not only for deer and sheep, which were very widely distributed across vegetation polygons, but also for those more locally restricted, as in the case of cattle, rabbits and mountain hares. The simple approach adopted here could be applied quite easily to other temperate and tropical multispecies grazing systems.

The evidence that the recorded presence of sheep was associated with higher grazing and trampling impacts than the other four mammalian herbivores was compelling. Sheep were associated with the highest impact across averaged habitats in seven out of 11 DMG, and increased the probability of observing a 'moderate' or greater impact in most habitats, not only those dominated by grasses but also on Heath. After sheep, the recorded presence of cattle was most commonly linked with increased impact on open-hill habitats, although their impact was localized, because cattle occurred in fewer habitats and a lower proportion of vegetation polygons within habitats. None the less, the estimated mean impact associated with cattle was slightly higher than sheep when averaged across habitats in three DMG.

In contrast to domestic stock, the recorded presence of red deer, mountain hares and rabbits had comparatively little impact on plant communities at the DMG scale; each species significantly increased the impact over all habitats in only one DMG (Cairngorm–Speyside, East Sutherland and Angus, respectively). However, in some other DMG the estimated grazing impact associated with the recorded presence of the wild mammalian herbivores was specific to particular habitat types, for example deer on Blanket bog and Montane heath in South Loch Tay, rabbits on Smooth grassland in both South Loch Tay and Cairngorm–Speyside, and hares on Heath in the Midwest.

distinguishing sheep and deer impacts

Although differences in diet selection and forage patch utilization by sheep and red deer are apparently subtle and vary with the grain of vegetation patch mosaics (<u>Clarke, Welch & Gordon 1995; Hester & Baillie 1998; Hester *et al.* 1999; Palmer & Hester 2000; Palmer *et al.* 2003), the estimated impact associated with the recorded presence of sheep was repeatedly greater than the impact associated with deer. In no less than 40 of the 63 (63·5%) habitat–DMG area combinations where we could directly compare the two species because we had sufficient samples of recorded presence/not recorded present in habitats, the probability of sheep impact was significantly greater than deer impact. In only one habitat, Blanket bog, in one DMG area, Cairngorm–Speyside, did the estimated impact of deer grazing significantly exceed the estimated impact of sheep.</u>

The success of our approach in distinguishing the magnitude of impacts associated with the presence of sheep vs. red deer probably reflects the fact that it assessed grazing impact at the extant scale of plant communities, thus recognizing that even 0.25-km² mapping units may be heterogeneous, with multiple patches of two or more habitats. Although the recorded presence/not recorded present (binary) data for herbivores may have included some false zeros, the assessment of large numbers of polygons in each DMG (median 1067) usually gave sufficient patches that had not been visited recently by one or more herbivore species, enabling us to estimate the independent effect of each herbivore species. Although in two DMG (North Ross and West Grampian), with relatively low numbers of vegetation polygons, it

was not possible to estimate deer impacts because of their extremely high recorded presence (> 97%) this was not a problem in the other nine DMG. Otherwise, there were only problems of robust estimates of impact for extremely low recorded presence, particularly for rabbits, where in five DMG they were recorded in less than 2% of vegetation polygons.

Unfortunately, our methods did not estimate the relative degree of use by each herbivore, where it was recorded present in a vegetation polygon, and only latterly were landowners/managers questioned about their sheep management practices and stocking rates at estate scales. However, in the two DMG where we could investigate the relationship between estimated impact of sheep vs. red deer in relation to their respective densities simultaneously, we found little or no increase in impact associated with higher densities of sheep, but significant increases in deer impact as deer densities increased. In the West Grampian DMG, the estimated impacts of deer only reached those of sheep at about 50 head km⁻². However, in East Sutherland DMG, where impacts tended to be lower than West Grampian, sheep densities tended to be lower than deer densities (in 16 of 18 estates) even before taking into account that often sheep tended to be on the open-hill for only part of the year.

The apparent lack of a relationship between grazing impact associated with sheep and their density is puzzling. One possible explanation, which would be consistent with the lower recorded presence of sheep compared with deer in vegetation polygons (median 43% and 90%, respectively), is that sheep are more aggregated than red deer, so that as sheep numbers increase they occupy proportionally more range but the effective density per unit area remains similar. While sheep may be more socially gregarious, their aggregation is likely, at least in part, to be a simple consequence of the way sheep are managed, with flocks tending to be grazed in particular locations, often for restricted periods, dependent on their stocking density (Lawrence & Wood-Gush 1988). Although the ranging behaviour of both species has not been studied sympatrically, there is evidence that sheep do have smaller home ranges compared with deer (30 ha vs. > 100 ha, respectively; cf. Hewson & Wilson 1979; Clutton-Brock, Guinness & Albon 1982), and hence sheep may be more likely to remain at local, hillside scales (Lawrence & Wood-Gush 1988). An alternative, but not necessarily mutually exclusive explanation, could be that, in some areas, sheep densities had been reduced shortly before the surveys and there had been insufficient time for the vegetation to recover.

Although our models included terms representing the interactions between herbivores, these were fitted with an expected additive effect of increased impact associated with pairs of species with similar diet and habitat use. However, we did not expect to find lower recorded impacts on vegetation polygons containing signs of herbivore presence than on similar habitats without signs of that herbivore, as in the case of red deer in five of the seven habitats in East Sutherland. Although herbivores can drive vegetation state transition and influence productivity (van der Wal 2006), we have no evidence in this case that deer were having a beneficial effect within habitats. Nor was there any evidence that they avoided sheep more in this DMG than others (55% deer-only polygons in East Sutherland was the median across DMG). While it could be a chance effect, given the complexity of the fitted model, it is possible that deer sought out patches within habitats that were particularly productive because of edaphic conditions, and in effect the DMG appeared lightly grazed.

management implications

Our results have important implications for managers of rangelands in Scotland. First, our models offer the potential to produce interpolated maps of predicted grazing and trampling impacts, as a function of herbivore presence/absence, vegetation and other biotic and abiotic measures (Brewer *et al.* 2004). However, the maps would not predict impacts relative to changes in number or density of herbivores other than deer, as the impact associated with the presence of sheep was not related to their density, and for the other herbivore species density was not estimated. For red deer, we can predict the probable average impact of either reducing or increasing numbers across habitats at the estate scale (10–100 km²) and within habitats at the regional scale (500–2000 km²).

Secondly, our results can help conservation managers anticipate the possible effects of changes in grazing pressure on the natural heritage (<u>Thompson *et al.* 1995</u>). It is likely that the total sheep stock will continue to decline, because recent reform of the Common Agricultural Policy (CAP) has moved into a post-productionist phase where good environmental stewardship is rewarded. Where sheep are removed from an area, the reduction in grazing and trampling pressure should halt further degradation of heather-dominated communities (<u>Armstrong & Milne 1995</u>). However, as red deer also prefer to forage in grass patches, they may fill the 'vacuum' left by the removal of sheep, hindering recolonization by heather (<u>Hope *et al.* 1996</u>). Unfortunately, understanding of the extent to which red deer will change their foraging and ranging behaviour when sheep are removed is largely anecdotal (but see <u>Clutton-Brock & Albon 1992</u>). Addressing this knowledge gap is important, particularly given that the numbers of red deer are likely to continue to grow because of higher recruitment associated with increasingly mild winters and earlier onset of spring (<u>Albon & Clutton-Brock 1988</u>). In Heath habitats, deer densities above about 15 deer km⁻² were associated with impacts of moderate or higher (<u>Fig. 5</u>), thus pro-active deer management to constrain the rate of deer population growth may be necessary if the priority is to halt the loss of heather.

Thirdly, there is an opportunity to reconsider the issue of whether heavy herbivore impact, leading to alternative plant communities, is an undesirable outcome rather than a dynamic process between alternative stables states (van der Wal 2006). Light or light/moderate grazing will maintain heather-dominated habitats but grass-dominated ones require moderate or greater levels of grazing. The debate is really about how herbivores are managed to create or maintain landscapes with different ecological properties and visual characteristics: the shape of which will depend on land managers aims in meeting either public and/or private objectives.

future research

While our approach was capable of distinguishing the grazing impact of different herbivores on openhill habitats, this was scaled in terms of the relative condition of the dominant species within a vegetation community, and not in terms of the implications for habitat condition, plant diversity/species richness or wider biodiversity consequences. The implications of different grazing and trampling impact classes will vary between communities. For example, moderate grazing impact may actually increase species richness, by reducing the cover of dominant species and enhancing the competitive ability of other species (<u>Clutton-Brock & Ball 1987</u>; <u>Gordon 1988</u>; <u>Welch & Scott 1995</u>; <u>Virtanen</u>, <u>Edwards & Crawley 2002</u>). Furthermore, changes in physical habitat structure associated with cattle grazing may have cascading effects beyond the plant species composition, including increased invertebrate abundance benefiting insectivorous birds, and higher abundance of voles, compared with similar levels of grazing with sheep only (Evans *et al.* 2006). However, there are concerns that the facilitation of small selective herbivores, such as voles, by larger species, such as cattle, may reduce plant diversity because the smaller herbivores prefer rare, palatable species (Olff & Ritchie 1998).

Unfortunately the evidence from individual studies around the world indicates that the magnitude and direction of the effects of different herbivores varies over spatial and temporal scales. Such complex interactions present a challenge to land managers and conservationists alike, and have led to the emergence of new conceptual frameworks describing the influence of herbivores on plant diversity across gradients of soil fertility and rainfall (Van de Koppel *et al.* 1996; Olff & Ritchie 1998). These should be tested at a range of scales, in order to provide further insights into the adaptive management of herbivore–habitat interactions to enhance biodiversity (Gordon, Hester & Festa-Bianchet 2004).

Acknowledgements

This synthesis was funded by the Scottish Executive Environment and Rural Affairs Department (SEERAD) through the discretionary funding available to the directors of SEERAD-sponsored institutes. The development and testing of the sampling methodology and surveys in 1997–99 were co-funded by SEERAD, the Deer Commission for Scotland and Scottish Natural Heritage (SNH). Surveys from 2000 onwards were commissioned by individual DMG, part-funded by SNH. In particular, we would like to thank the DMG and estate owners, managers and stalkers for the provision of information, and assistance with access, to enable these studies to be carried out. We are grateful to all the field survey team members, especially Anneke Stolte, David Henderson and Clare Waterhouse, and Andrew Dalziel for assembling the overall database. Access to the Beowulf Linux computer cluster, Rowett Research Institute, Aberdeen, was assisted by Tony Travis. The manuscript benefited from advice on the analysis, arguments, structure and figures given by Mick Crawley, David Elston, Maggie Gill, Alison Hester, Glenn Iason, John Milne, Josephine Pemberton, Simon Thirgood, Des Thompson and Rene van der Wal. We are grateful to them all, as well as the Associate Editor, E. J. Milner-Gulland and two anonymous referees, for their constructive criticisms.

Supporting Information

References

Citing Literature

Number of times cited according to CrossRef: 43

• Friederike Riesch, Bettina Tonn, Hans Georg Stroh, Marcus Meißner, Niko Balkenhol, Johannes Isselstein, Grazing by wild red deer maintains characteristic vegetation of semi-natural open habitats: Evidence from a three-year exclusion experiment, Applied Vegetation Science, 10.1111/avsc.12505, **23**, 4, (522-538), (2020).

Wiley Online Library

- Georgina Weston, Lorna J. Philip, The Sheep and Trees initiative: a first step towards integrated agroforestry?, Scottish Geographical Journal, 10.1080/14702541.2020.1845393, (1-23), (2020). Crossref
- A.J. Hester, A.J. Britton, R.L. Hewison, L.C. Ross, J.M. Potts, Long-term vegetation change in Scotland's native forests, Biological Conservation, 10.1016/j.biocon.2019.04.018, 235, (136-146), (2019).

<u>Crossref</u>

• Xincheng Li, Zhongnan Wang, Deli Wang, Ling Wang, Duofeng Pan, Jie Li, Kejia De, Timothy R. Seastedt, Livestock grazing impacts on plateau pika (Ochotona curzoniae) vary by species identity, Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 10.1016/j.agee.2019.01.007, **275**, (23-31), (2019).

<u>Crossref</u>

- Rory Putman, Luca Nelli, Jason Matthiopoulos, Changes in bodyweight and productivity in resource-restricted populations of red deer (Cervus elaphus) in response to deliberate reductions in density, European Journal of Wildlife Research, 10.1007/s10344-018-1251-5, 65, 1, (2019). <u>Crossref</u>
- James D. M. Speed, Gunnar Austrheim, Anders Lorentzen Kolstad, Erling J. Solberg, Longterm changes in northern large-herbivore communities reveal differential rewilding rates in space and time, PLOS ONE, 10.1371/journal.pone.0217166, 14, 5, (e0217166), (2019). <u>Crossref</u>
- Emily K. Moore, Glenn R. Iason, Josephine M. Pemberton, Jenny Bryce, Nikki Dayton, Andrea J. Britton, Robin J. Pakeman, Habitat impact assessment detects spatially driven patterns of grazing impacts in habitat mosaics but overestimates damage, Journal for Nature Conservation, 10.1016/j.jnc.2018.07.005, **45**, (20-29), (2018).

<u>Crossref</u>

- José Luis Serrano-Montes, José Antonio Olmedo-Cobo, José Gómez-Zotano, Emilio Martínez-Ibarra, "Dactylopius opuntiae" vs. "Opuntia Ficus-indica" en España: análisis espacio-temporal y repercusiones paisajísticas a través de los medios de comunicación on-line, Anales de Geografía de la Universidad Complutense, 10.5209/AGUC.60474, 38, 1, (195-217), (2018). <u>Crossref</u>
- Peter M. Haswell, Josip Kusak, Matt W. Hayward, Large carnivore impacts are contextdependent, Food Webs, 10.1016/j.fooweb.2016.02.005, **12**, (3-13), (2017).
 <u>Crossref</u>
- Louise C. Ross, Gunnar Austrheim, Leif-Jarle Asheim, Gunnar Bjarnason, Jon Feilberg, Anna Maria Fosaa, Alison J. Hester, Øystein Holand, Ingibjörg S. Jónsdóttir, Lis E. Mortensen, Atle Mysterud, Erla Olsen, Anders Skonhoft, James D. M. Speed, Geir Steinheim, Des B. A. Thompson, Anna Gudrún Thórhallsdóttir, Sheep grazing in the North Atlantic region: A long-term perspective on environmental sustainability, Ambio, 10.1007/s13280-016-0771-z, 45, 5, (551-566), (2016).

- Scott Newey, Karen Mustin, Rosalind Bryce, Debbie Fielding, Steve Redpath, Nils Bunnefeld, Bronwen Daniel, R. Justin Irvine, Impact of Management on Avian Communities in the Scottish Highlands, PLOS ONE, 10.1371/journal.pone.0155473, 11, 5, (e0155473), (2016). Crossref
- Friedrich-Karl Holtmeier, Friedrich-Karl Holtmeier, Selected Landscapes Under the Influence of Wild Herbivorous Mammals, Animals' Influence on the Landscape and Ecological Importance, 10.1007/978-94-017-9294-3, (205-294), (2015). Crossref
- Francesco Ferretti, Marcello Corazza, Ilaria Campana, Venusta Pietrocini, Claudia Brunetti, Davide Scornavacca, Sandro Lovari, Competition between wild herbivores: reintroduced red deer and Apennine chamois, Behavioral Ecology, 10.1093/beheco/aru226, 26, 2, (550-559), (2015).

- Emily K. Moore, Andrea J. Britton, Glenn Iason, Josephine Pemberton, Robin J. Pakeman, Landscape-scale vegetation patterns influence small-scale grazing impacts, Biological Conservation, 10.1016/j.biocon.2015.09.019, **192**, (218-225), (2015).
 <u>Crossref</u>
- Oliver Moore, Michael J. Crawley, Red deer impacts on the montane Racomitrium lanuginosum moss-heath community in north-west Scotland , Plant Ecology & Diversity, 10.1080/17550874.2015.1004562, 8, 3, (427-436), (2015).
 <u>Crossref</u>
- F. J. Pérez-Barbería, M. Small, R. J. Hooper, A. Aldezabal, R. Soriguer-Escofet, G. S. Bakken, I. J. Gordon, State-Space Modelling of the Drivers of Movement Behaviour in Sympatric Species, PLOS ONE, 10.1371/journal.pone.0142707, 10, 11, (e0142707), (2015). <u>Crossref</u>
- René van der Wal, David Miller, Justin Irvine, Stefano Fiorini, Arjun Amar, Steven Yearley, Robin Gill, Norman Dandy, The influence of information provision on people's landscape preferences: A case study on understorey vegetation of deer-browsed woodlands, Landscape and Urban Planning, 10.1016/j.landurbplan.2014.01.009, **124**, (129-139), (2014).
 <u>Crossref</u>
- Chris J. Curtis, Richard W. Battarbee, Donald T. Monteith, Ewan M. Shilland, The future of upland water ecosystems of the UK in the 21st century: A synthesis, Ecological Indicators, 10.1016/j.ecolind.2013.10.012, **37**, (412-430), (2014).
 <u>Crossref</u>
- Patricia L. Kennedy, Anne M. Bartuszevige, Marcy Houle, Ann B. Humphrey, Katie M. Dugger, John Williams, Stable occupancy by breeding hawks (Buteo spp.) over 25 years on a privately managed bunchgrass prairie in northeastern Oregon, USA, The Condor, 10.1650/CONDOR-12-174.1, **116**, 3, (435-445), (2014). Crossref
- Oliver Moore, Michael J. Crawley, The impact of red deer management on cryptogam ecology in vegetation typical of north west Scotland, Plant Ecology & Diversity, 10.1080/17550874.2013.848242, **8**, 1, (127-137), (2013).

<u>Crossref</u>

• F. J. Pérez-Barbería, R. J. Hooper, I. J. Gordon, Long-term density-dependent changes in habitat selection in red deer (Cervus elaphus), Oecologia, 10.1007/s00442-013-2686-8, **173**, 3, (837-847), (2013).

<u>Crossref</u>

• M.L. Pollock, J.P. Holland, C. Morgan-Davies, J. Morgan-Davies, A. Waterhouse, Reduced Sheep Grazing and Biodiversity: A Novel Approach to Selecting and Measuring Biodiversity Indicators, Rangeland Ecology & Management, 10.2111/REM-D-11-00123.1, **66**, 4, (387-400), (2013).

<u>Crossref</u>

- Georgina Maffey, Mark Reed, R. Justin Irvine, René van der Wal, Habitat monitoring in the wider countryside: A case study on the pursuit of innovation in red deer management, Journal of Environmental Management, 10.1016/j.jenvman.2013.06.022, **128**, (779-786), (2013). <u>Crossref</u>
- Beth A. Middleton, Rediscovering traditional vegetation management in preserves: Trading experiences between cultures and continents, Biological Conservation, 10.1016/j.biocon.2012.10.003, 158, (271-279), (2013).
 Crossref
- Rocío Rosa García, Mariecia D. Fraser, Rafael Celaya, Luis Miguel Mendes Ferreira, Urcesino García, Koldo Osoro, Grazing land management and biodiversity in the Atlantic European heathlands: a review, Agroforestry Systems, 10.1007/s10457-012-9519-3, 87, 1, (19-43), (2012).

<u>Crossref</u>

- Juande D. Fernández, José M. Gómez, Advantages and drawbacks of living in protected areas: the case of the threatened Erysimum popovii (Brassicaceae) in SE Iberian Peninsula, Biodiversity and Conservation, 10.1007/s10531-012-0316-0, 21, 10, (2539-2554), (2012). Crossref
- Andrew J. Tanentzap, Keith J. Kirby, Emma Goldberg, Slow responses of ecosystems to reductions in deer (Cervidae) populations and strategies for achieving recovery, Forest Ecology and Management, 10.1016/j.foreco.2011.10.005, 264, (159-166), (2012). Crossref
- Eileen O'Rourke, Nadine Kramm, High nature value (HNV) farming and the management of upland diversity. A review, European Countryside, 10.2478/v10091-012-0018-3, 4, 2, (2012). <u>Crossref</u>
- Sumanta Bagchi, Yash V Bhatnagar, Mark E Ritchie, Comparing the effects of livestock and native herbivores on plant production and vegetation composition in the Trans-Himalayas, Pastoralism: Research, Policy and Practice, 10.1186/2041-7136-2-21, 2, 1, (21), (2012). <u>Crossref</u>
- E. O'Rourke, N. Kramm, N. Chisholm, The influence of farming styles on the management of the Iveragh uplands, southwest Ireland, Land Use Policy, 10.1016/j.landusepol.2011.12.008, 29, 4, (805-816), (2012).

 Gunnar Austrheim, Erling J. Solberg, Atle Mysterud, Spatio-temporal variation in large herbivore pressure in Norway during 1949-1999: has decreased grazing by livestock been countered by increased browsing by cervids?, Wildlife Biology, 10.2981/10-038, 17, 3, (286), (2011).

<u>Crossref</u>

- C. G. Bueno, I. C. Barrio, R. García-González, C. L. Alados, D. Gómez-García, Assessment of wild boar rooting on ecological and pastoral values of alpine pyrenean grasslands, Pirineos, 10.3989/pirineos.2011.166003, 166, 0, (51-67), (2011).
 Crossref
- Jane L. DeGabriel, Steve D. Albon, Deborah A. Fielding, David J. Riach, Sally Westaway, R. Justin Irvine, The presence of sheep leads to increases in plant diversity and reductions in the impact of deer on heather, Journal of Applied Ecology, 10.1111/j.1365-2664.2011.02032.x, 48, 5, (1269-1277), (2011).

Wiley Online Library

 Calum Brown, Robert Mcmorran, Martin F. Price, Rewilding – A New Paradigm for Nature Conservation in Scotland?, Scottish Geographical Journal, 10.1080/14702541.2012.666261, 127, 4, (288-314), (2011).

<u>Crossref</u>

- Stein Joar Hegland, Eelke Jongejans, Knut Rydgren, Investigating the interaction between ungulate grazing and resource effects on Vaccinium myrtillus populations with integral projection models, Oecologia, 10.1007/s00442-010-1616-2, **163**, 3, (695-706), (2010). <u>Crossref</u>
- C. Guillermo Bueno, Isabel C. Barrio, Ricardo García-González, Concepción L. Alados, Daniel Gómez-García, Does wild boar rooting affect livestock grazing areas in alpine grasslands?, European Journal of Wildlife Research, 10.1007/s10344-010-0372-2, 56, 5, (765-770), (2010). Crossref
- Angus J. MacDonald, Testing the reliability of assessment of land management impacts on Scottish upland vegetation, Plant Ecology & Diversity, 10.1080/17550874.2010.542781, 3, 3, (301-312), (2010).

- Sílvia Pérez-Espona, Josephine M. Pemberton, Rory Putman, Red and sika deer in the British Isles, current management issues and management policy, Mammalian Biology - Zeitschrift für Säugetierkunde, 10.1016/j.mambio.2009.01.003, 74, 4, (247-262), (2009).
 <u>Crossref</u>
- Andrew J. Tanentzap, Larry E. Burrows, William G. Lee, Graham Nugent, Jane M. Maxwell, David A. Coomes, Landscape-level vegetation recovery from herbivory: progress after four decades of invasive red deer control, Journal of Applied Ecology, 10.1111/j.1365-2664.2009.01683.x, 46, 5, (1064-1072), (2009).
 <u>Wiley Online Library</u>
- R. J. Irvine, S. Fiorini, S. Yearley, J. E. McLeod, A. Turner, H. Armstrong, P. C. L. White, R. Van Der Wal, Can managers inform models? Integrating local knowledge into models of red

deer habitat use, Journal of Applied Ecology, 10.1111/j.1365-2664.2009.01626.x, **46**, 2, (344-352), (2009).

Wiley Online Library

 Adrian D. Manning, Iain J. Gordon, William J. Ripple, Restoring landscapes of fear with wolves in the Scottish Highlands, Biological Conservation, 10.1016/j.biocon.2009.05.007, 142, 10, (2314-2321), (2009).

<u>Crossref</u>

 José Pedro Pereira Trindade, Fernando Luiz Ferreira de Quadros, Valério DePatta Pillar, Vegetação campestre de areais do Sudoeste do Rio Grande do Sul sob pastejo e com exclusão do pastejo, Pesquisa Agropecuária Brasileira, 10.1590/S0100-204X2008000600014, 43, 6, (771-779), (2008).

<u>Crossref</u>

 C.N.R. Critchley, H.F. Adamson, B.M.L. McLean, O.D. Davies, Vegetation dynamics and livestock performance in system-scale studies of sheep and cattle grazing on degraded upland wet heath, Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 10.1016/j.agee.2008.05.002, 128, 1-2, (59-67), (2008).

Aboveground and belowground mammalian herbivores regulate the demography of deciduous woody species in conifer forests

BRYAN A. ENDRESS,^{1,†} BRIDGETT J. NAYLOR,² BURAK K. PEKIN,³ AND MICHAEL J. WISDOM²

¹Eastern Oregon Agriculture and Natural Resource Program, Department of Animal and Rangeland Sciences, Oregon State University, La Grande, Oregon 98750 USA ²USDA Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, La Grande, Oregon 98750 USA ³Eurasia Institute of Earth Sciences, Istanbul Technical University, Istanbul 34469 Turkey

Citation: Endress, B. A., B. J. Naylor, B. K. Pekin, and M. J. Wisdom. 2016. Aboveground and belowground mammalian herbivores regulate the demography of deciduous woody species in conifer forests. Ecosphere 7(10):e01530. 10.1002/ ecs2.1530

Abstract. Mammalian herbivory can have profound impacts on plant population and community dynamics. However, our understanding of specific herbivore effects remains limited, even in regions with high densities of domestic and wild herbivores, such as the semiarid conifer forests of western North America. We conducted a seven-year manipulative experiment to evaluate the effects of herbivory by two common ungulates, Cervus elaphus (Rocky Mountain elk) and cattle Bos taurus (domestic cattle) on growth and survival of two woody deciduous species, Populus trichocarpa (cottonwood) and Salix scouleriana (Scouler's willow) in postfire early-successional forest stands. Additionally, we monitored belowground herbivory by Thomomys talpoides (pocket gopher) and explored effects of both aboveground and belowground herbivory on plant vital rates. Three, approximately 7 ha exclosures were constructed, and each was divided into 1-ha plots. Seven herbivory treatments were then randomly assigned to the plots: three levels of herbivory (low, moderate, and high) for both cattle and elk, and one complete ungulate exclusion treatment. Treatments were implemented for seven years. Results showed that cattle and elk substantially reduced height and growth of both cottonwood and willow. Elk had a larger effect on growth and subsequent plant height than cattle, especially for cottonwood, and elk effects occurred even at low herbivore densities. Pocket gophers had a strong effect on survival of both plant species while herbivory by ungulates did not. However, we documented significant interaction effects of aboveground and belowground herbivory on survival. Our study is one of the first to evaluate top-down regulation by multiple herbivore species at varying densities. Results suggest that traditional exclosure studies that treat herbivory as a binary factor (either present or absent) may not be sufficient to characterize top-down regulation on plant demography. Rather, the strength of top-down regulation varies depending on a number of factors including herbivore species, herbivore density, interactions among multiple herbivore species, and varying tolerance levels of different plant species to herbivory.

Key words: cattle; elk; grazing; North America; Oregon; plant population dynamics; plant–herbivore interactions; *Populus trichocarpa; Salix scouleriana;* trophic cascades; ungulate herbivory.

Received 3 August 2016; revised 12 August 2016; accepted 22 August 2016. Corresponding Editor: Uffe Nielsen. **Copyright:** © 2016 Endress et al. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited. † **E-mail:** bryan.endress@oregonstate.edu

INTRODUCTION

Mammalian herbivory can have profound effects on plant community structure, composition, and dynamics as well as the distribution, abundance, and demography of individual species (Augustine and McNaughton 1998, Endress et al. 2004, Beguin et al. 2011, Sankaran et al. 2013). A diverse array of mammals have been shown to affect plant population and community

1

dynamics, ranging from large herbivores such as elephants, deer, and moose to small-bodied species such as hares, pocket gophers, and voles (Cantor and Whitham 1989, McInnes et al. 1992, Fritz et al. 2002, Côté et al. 2004, Howe et al. 2006, Lyly et al. 2014). While the strength of top-down regulation of vegetation by mammalian herbivores varies with environmental conditions (Oksanen et al. 1981, Gough et al. 2012, McLaughlin and Zavaleta 2013, Young et al. 2013), herbivory effects have been reported across multiple ecosystems, biomes, and continents (Gill 1992, Oksanen and Moen 1994, Asquith et al. 1997, Rooney and Waller 2003, Bakker et al. 2006).

Despite numerous studies, our understanding of specific mammalian herbivore effects on plant populations and communities remains limited for a number of reasons. First, most studies exclude herbivores from the ecosystem (often via exclosures) and then compare vegetation changes inside and outside of the exclosures (e.g., McNaughton 1985, Manson et al. 2001, Howe et al. 2006, Sankaran et al. 2013). While this approach is an important first step in documenting top-down regulation, traditional exclosure studies often report pooled effects among different herbivores (e.g., Sankaran et al. 2013, Pekin et al. 2014a). As most ecosystems contain multiple herbivores, it is difficult to separate species-specific effects or determine the relative contribution of different herbivores to the observed effects. Moreover, regardless of the number of herbivore species within the system, traditional exclosure studies treat herbivory as a binary factor (either present or absent) and compare effects of complete herbivore exclusion to an often unknown or unreported density of herbivores in the surrounding area. This makes it difficult to evaluate how results from the experiment relate to the broader landscape where herbivore densities vary in space and time. Further complicating our understanding is that herbivory often interacts with other factors such as fire, drought, insect outbreaks, and other land use activities that occur within the same ecosystem (Weisberg and Bugmann 2003, Eschtruth and Battles 2008, Endress et al. 2012, Pekin et al. 2015).

Research that explores how different herbivore species at varying densities influence the direction and strength of top-down regulation would advance our understanding of how, when, and to what degree mammalian herbivores affect plant individuals, populations, and communities. It would also increase our ability to develop management strategies that account for herbivores role in affecting vegetation dynamics. Addressing these questions is challenging and requires long-term manipulative experiments, which have been advocated for some time (Wisdom et al. 2006, Turkington 2009), but for which only a handful have been conducted (e.g., Goheen et al. 2013, Lyly et al. 2014, Pekin et al. 2014b). Results from these studies indicate that top-down regulation on vegetation is a product of multiple herbivore species differentially affecting plant species and often interacting with other ecological factors. This highlights the need for researchers to incorporate multiple species, densities, and interactions with other ecological factors into herbivory studies to advance our understanding of top-down regulation.

In the semiarid coniferous forests of western North America, ungulates are important regulators of plant population and community dynamics (Riggs et al. 2000, Wisdom et al. 2006, Endress et al. 2012). Yet, despite high densities of wild and domestic ungulates throughout ecosystems of the region, few studies have examined the role of mammals in influencing conifer forest dynamics (Wisdom et al. 2006). It has been hypothesized that ungulate herbivory coupled with episodic disturbances such as fire, insect outbreaks, or timber harvest is a key driver influencing trajectories of forest succession (Wisdom et al. 2006, Vavra et al. 2007). Endress et al. (2012) found when ungulates were excluded from early-successional postfire stands, recruitment of deciduous woody species including black cottonwood (Populus trichocarpa Torr. and A. Gray ex Hook), willow (*Salix* spp.) and aspen (Populus tremuloides Michx.) was four times greater than in adjacent areas that were exposed to herbivory by Bos taurus (domestic cattle), Odocoileus hemionus (mule deer), and Cervus elephus (Rocky Mountain elk). Additionally, ungulates suppressed plant growth as individuals that established in ungulate-excluded areas were significantly taller, with some species more than three times greater in height than individuals in areas exposed to herbivores. These findings further suggest strong herbivore effects on

certain deciduous woody species by ungulates following disturbance events. However, results were pooled effects from multiple ungulates and compared complete herbivore exclusion to background herbivore density levels. We still know little about the relative importance of the different herbivores species and how the strength of top-down regulation varies with herbivore density. Additionally, ungulates are not the only mammalian herbivores in these landscapes, and previous research suggests that root herbivory by pocket gophers (Thomomys talpoides) may also affect deciduous woody species establishment and survival (Bryant and Skovlin 1982, Cantor and Whitham 1989). Belowground herbivory is an overlooked aspect of mammalian herbivore studies despite their presence in many ecosystems and the recognition that root herbivory can result in large impacts on plant demographic performance (Zvereva and Kozlov 2012, Stephens et al. 2013).

Here, we report on a large-scale, seven-year experiment in the semiarid coniferous forests of western North America that examines the effects of different ungulate herbivore species (elk, cattle) at varying densities on the growth and survival of two deciduous woody species. To compare the relative importance of different ungulate herbivores, we experimentally manipulated densities of cattle and elk in early succession postfire forest stands following fuel reduction treatments (stand thinning followed by prescribed fire) and evaluated the growth and survival of cottonwood and Scouler's willow (Salix scouleriana Barratt ex. Hook.), two deciduous woody species that recruit prolifically following fire and whose abundance and size appears to be strongly regulated by ungulate herbivores (Endress et al. 2012). Demographic performance of individuals was then used to evaluate how different herbivore species and densities influenced the strength of top-down regulation. We also monitored belowground herbivory by pocket gophers during the study to explore the effects of both aboveground and belowground herbivory on plant vital rates. We hypothesized that elk, considered "mixed feeders" that both graze herbaceous species and browse woody species (Hobbs et al. 1981, Cook 2002), would exert more pressure on cottonwood and willow than cattle, which are primarily grazers who prefer herbaceous species (Clark et al. 2013), resulting in greater effects by elk on the survival and growth of the two plant species. Moreover, we hypothesized that for both ungulates, increasing herbivore density would increase pressure on plant populations and have greater impacts on individual plant demographic performance.

Methods

Study area and species description

Research was conducted in mixed conifer forest stands dominated by Pseudotsuga menziesii (Mirb.) Franco (Douglas fir) and *Abies grandis* (Douglas ex D. Don) Lindl. (grand fir) within the Starkey Experimental Forest and Range (hereafter "Starkey") in the Blue Mountains Ecological Province of northeast Oregon. Elevations range from 1200 to 1500 m above sea level with approximately 400 mm annual precipitation, most of which occurs as winter snow or spring rain, with a predictable drought from late summer to early fall (Rowland et al. 1997). Forests are typical of those found throughout interior western North America (Wisdom 2005). Understories were a diverse mix of grass and grass-like species, forbs, and deciduous woody shrubs (Pekin et al. 2014a, b, 2015).

During the past 25 years, approximately 500 cow–calf pairs of cattle have grazed Starkey from mid-June through mid-October. During this same period, approximately 200 mule deer and 350 elk have grazed/browsed during spring, summer, and fall (April through November) of each year (Rowland et al. 1997, Wisdom 2005). Population densities of cattle (7.15/km²), elk (4.55/km²), and mule deer (1.95/km²) at Starkey are typical of densities on summer ranges in western North America (Wisdom and Thomas 1996).

Both Scouler's willow and cottonwood are solitary, non-clonal species with the ability to stump sprout from the root crown following disturbance. Scouler's willow is a common understory shrub in conifer forest throughout western North America and recruits readily following fire (Anderson 2001). Cottonwood is often associated with floodplains and riparian areas (Steinberg 2001); however, it can frequently occur at low abundances in early-successional conifer forest stands (Moeur 1992, Endress et al. 2012). Within Starkey, high abundances of both species were reported

ECOSPHERE ***** www.esajournals.org

following stand thinning and prescribed fire when cattle, elk, and deer were excluded from the sites (Endress et al. 2012). Additionally, in postfire stands exposed to ungulates, cottonwood and Scouler's willow individuals were significantly less abundant and heavily browsed, resulting in suppressed plant heights.

Silvicultural treatments and exclosure design

Three large ungulate exclosures, Half Moon (7.3 ha), Bally Camp (6.8 ha), and Louis Spring (7.3 ha), were constructed following fuel reduction treatments across Starkey as part of a comprehensive research effort to examine forest management-ungulate herbivory interactions (Endress et al. 2012, Clark et al. 2013, Pekin et al. 2014a, b, 2015). Fuel reduction treatments were designed to reduce extremely high fuel loads (>150 tons/ha) that developed from an outbreak of western spruce budworm (Choristoneura occidentalis) that killed the majority of grand fir and Douglas fir trees in the overstory in the 1980s–1990s (Vavra et al. 2004*a*, *b*, Bull et al. 2005). Stands were mechanically thinned to reduced fuel loads to <35 tons/ha, and following thinning, sites were broadcast burned. Treatments were designed and implemented in a manner typical of fuel reduction activities across coniferous forests in the western United States (Agee and Skinner 2005). Stand thinning for the three sites occurred during summer 2001, and both Bally Camp and Louis Spring were broadcast burned in the fall of the same year (2001). Half Moon was not burned until the summer 2002 to meet desired conditions for prescribed burning compatible with burn conditions at the other exclosures.

The exclosures were established following fuel treatments by constructing an eight-foot high fence that excluded all ungulates (cattle, elk, and mule deer), but allowed for other wildlife to pass under, over, or through. The exclosures were constructed in the year following the fuel treatments: 2002 for Bally Camp and Louis Spring, and 2003 for Half Moon. The size and shape of each exclosure varied depending on site conditions (topography, slope, forest structure, and the shape of the forest patch) to minimize variation within exclosures. Each exclosure was then divided into seven, roughly equal-sized and shaped plots (ranging from 0.95 to 1.02 ha/plot), and seven levels of cattle and elk herbivory were randomly

assigned to the plots. The levels included low, moderate, and high late summer browsing by elk or by cattle and one level of total ungulate exclusion.

Ungulate herbivory treatments

Herbivory treatments began three years following exclosure construction (Bally Camp and Louis Spring: 2005, Half Moon: 2006) and were conducted annually for seven years. Herbivory levels for each treatment level (low, moderate, and high) were defined in terms of the number of days per ha, or stocking density, that elk and cattle use Douglas fir and grand fir forests in the interior northwestern United States, broken down into three levels of forage utilization: high-45% utilization; moderate-30% utilization; and low-15% utilization. These levels typify the range of use established for cattle on summer ranges in Douglas fir and grand fir habitat types on public lands like those at Starkey (Holechek et al. 1998). Public land grazing policies typically do not allow a level of forage utilization by cattle that exceed the high treatment level, nor is it common that utilization levels by cattle on public lands occur below our established low treatment level (Holechek et al. 1998). Consequently, our levels of forage utilization encompass the broad range of levels that typically occur on public grazing allotments in the western United States.

Stocking density (SD) for cattle and elk was then calculated using standard forage allocation procedures based on the specified level of forage utilization (FU, expressed as a proportion), the available forage for each ungulate (AF, kg/ ha), and the average daily forage intake of each ungulate (DFI, kg·ha⁻¹·d⁻¹) as SD = (FU × AF)/ DFI. Using this formula, stocking densities were determined as follows: for elk (low, moderate, and high): 8, 16, and 32 d/ha respectively; for cattle (low, moderate, and high): 10, 20, and 30 d/ha, respectively. Use of this algorithm to establish stocking densities of domestic ungulates, and wild ungulate equivalencies, is a conventional method based on standard forage allocation procedures used on public grazing allotments throughout the western United States (Holechek et al. 1998) and encompass the range of cattle and elk densities that typically occur on public ranges during summer in the western United States.

The calculated stocking densities were then refined so that the final number of cattle days per ha and elk days per ha for each treatment level corresponded to what was logistically feasible to implement with the tractable animals. Moreover, the number of animals must be compatible with each ungulate's group behavior for foraging and the need to complete the trials in as few days as possible to minimize changes in forage availability and phenology. As a result, we used four elk and six to eight cattle per trial to most efficiently approximate the calculated stocking densities. The diets of elk and cattle tend to converge during late summer in grand fir and Douglas fir forests (Findholt et al. 2004) when both ungulates typically increase selection for nutritious deciduous shrubs because grasses and forbs senesce and are of low quality following the onset of summer drought (Cook et al. 2004). We thus carried out the browsing treatments each year during August because we hypothesized that browsing would have the greatest effect on deciduous woody species during this time (Vavra et al. 2004*a*).

Demography of cottonwood and willow

We conducted a census to identify, count, and permanently tag cottonwood and willow individuals within the exclosures before implementing the herbivory treatments. Plots were systematically searched on three separate occasions between May and July 2005 (Louis Spring, Bally Camp) and 2006 (Half Moon). When encountered, all individuals were given a unique ID number and tag, and their location georeferenced with a Global Positioning System (GPS) unit (Trimble Pathfinder ProXRS; Trimble, Austin, Texas, USA). In July, before initiating the herbivory trials, we revisited all individuals and measured their heights. We remeasured tagged individuals annually each summer over the seven years of the study. During each sampling event, we recorded plant survival and height. When we encountered newly recruited plants during sampling, they were tagged, measured, and growth and survival tracked throughout the duration of the study.

At the beginning of our study, we observed considerable pocket gopher activity at the base of willow and cottonwood individuals, often killing individuals by chewing through the entire stem just below the soil surface (Fig. 1a, b). To incorporate pocket gopher effects into our study, we recording the presence of recently created soil mounds directly at the base of individuals (1 = yes; 0 = no) during our measurements. Additionally, we verified the cause of plant mortality by excavating individuals that died during the study and examining for gopher damage near the root crown (Fig. 1b). Monitoring and measuring subterranean herbivore effects on plants using mounds presence and density is a frequent and standard approach when destructive or more formal experimental measurements are not possible (e.g., Cantor and Whitham 1989, Cox and Hunt 1994, Campos et al. 2001, Lara et al. 2007).

For individuals exposed to ungulate herbivory treatments (all individuals except those in the complete ungulate exclusion treatment), we also resampled individuals immediately following implementation of herbivory treatments (late August or early September of each year) and recorded if the plant had been browsed in the most recent herbivory trial (1 = yes, 0 = no), and their height remeasured. Over the course of the study, we tracked the fate of 946 cottonwood individuals and 1290 willow individuals. This resulted in the following sample sizes: for cottonwood-low elk (n = 113), moderate elk(n = 51), high elk (n = 130), low cattle (n = 186), moderate cattle (n = 109), high cattle (n = 87), and ungulates excluded (n = 270) and for willowlow elk (n = 163), moderate elk (n = 109), high elk (n = 243), low cattle (n = 127), moderate cattle (n = 145), high cattle (n = 252), and ungulates excluded (n = 251).

Data analyses

To evaluate herbivory intensity on willow and cottonwood populations exposed to the herbivory treatment levels, we calculated "browse pressure" for each species for each year of the experiment. This was calculated as the proportion of individual plants in the population that were browsed. We used logistic regression within a mixed modeling framework (Schall 1991) to test whether the proportion of plants browsed (browse pressure) differed among ungulates (cattle, elk) and densities (low, moderate, and high). We used the function glmmPQL of the MASS package (Venables and Ripley 2002) in R (R Core Team 2012). Because the proportion of browsed plants was calculated annually over seven years,



Fig. 1. (a) Pocket gopher mound at the base of a wilting cottonwood (*Populus trichocarpa*) seedling; (b) evidence of pocket gopher herbivory near root crown of a Scouler's willow (*Salix scouleriana*); (c) cattle grazing one of the experimental plots; and (d) an elk browsing *S. scouleriana* during the experiment.

we included sampling year as a random effect along with study site. Ungulate density (low, moderate, or high) and type (cattle or elk) were included as fixed effects. We ran three separate analyses. The first analysis included a fixed variable indicating the species (willow or cottonwood) to test for differences in browse pressure among the two plant species. We then ran the model separately for cottonwood and willow species to specifically evaluate effects of stocking densities and ungulate type by plant species. Interactions between effects were initially tested and left in the models if significant (P < 0.05).

We evaluated treatment effects on survival rates of plants over the seven-year study using Cox proportional hazards regression analyses

(Andersen and Gill 1982) with the R function coxph in the survival package (Therneau and Grambsch 2000). Independent variables included in the models were ungulate type (elk and cattle), ungulate density (none, low, moderate, and high), and the intensity of belowground herbivory (none, low, moderate, and high). Levels of belowground herbivory were determined by calculating the percentage of years that we observed active pocket gopher activity directly at the base of each individual. We grouped percentages into four intensity levels: low (0–24%) moderate (25–49%), high (50–74%), and very high (≥75%). Interaction effects among independent variables were initially tested, and both independent variables and interaction effects were dropped from the final model if not significant (P > 0.05).

We evaluated the effect of ungulate browsing on plant height using Poisson regression within a mixed modeling framework using the MASS function glmmPQL. Fixed independent variables included ungulate type and density, initial plant height, and belowground herbivory. Sampling year and site were included as random factors in the models. Models for willow and cottonwood were run separately.

Results

Browse pressure

When the experiment began, densities of cottonwood and willow were similar. Cottonwood densities averaged 34 individuals per hectare (SE = 4.9), while willow densities averaged 31 individuals per hectare (SE = 6.2). Over time, willow densities remained fairly constant while cottonwood densities declined rapidly, resulting in a mean cottonwood density of 13.4 individuals per hectare (SE = 2.8) at the end of the study (Fig. 2). The proportion of plants browsed during the study differed significantly depending on plant species (cottonwood vs. willow), ungulate type (elk vs. cattle), and ungulate density (low, moderate, and high). Browse pressure was significantly greater for willow than cottonwood (t = 5.049, P < 0.001), and elk browsed a significantly greater proportion of plants (cottonwood and willow combined) than cattle (t = 5.003,



Fig. 2. Mean density (±SE) of Scouler's willow (*Salix scouleriana*) and cottonwood (*Populus trichocarpa*) across the herbivory treatments over the seven-year experiment.

ECOSPHERE ***** www.esajournals.org



Fig. 3. The average proportion (±95% confidence intervals) of Scouler's willow (*Salix scouleriana*) and cottonwood (*Populus trichocarpa*) individuals browsed per year by cattle (*Bos taurus*) and Rocky Mountain elk (*Cervus elephus*) over a seven-year period.

P < 0.001). Additionally, regardless of the ungulate species, increasing stocking density resulted in a greater proportion of browsed plants (t = 6.311, P < 0.001).

For cottonwood, regardless of the ungulate species (cattle or elk), as herbivore density increased, so did browse pressure (Fig. 3, Table 1). However, elk browsed a greater proportion of individuals than cattle (Fig. 3, Table 1). Mean percentage of individuals browsed per year for the cattle treatment ranged from 34% (SE = 5.8) in the low-density treatment to 61% (SE = 5.7) in the high-density treatment. For elk, browse pressure ranged from 55% (SE = 7.4) in

Table 1. The effect of ungulate species (elk or cattle) and density on the proportion of browsed willow (*Salix scouleriana*) and cottonwood (*Populus trichocarpa*) based on logistic regression.

| Parameters | Effect | Estimate | SE | Р |
|------------------|---------|----------|-------|---------|
| Scouler's willow | Density | 0.603 | 0.109 | < 0.001 |
| | Species | 1.593 | 0.192 | < 0.001 |
| Cottonwood | Density | 0.506 | 0.108 | < 0.001 |
| | Species | 0.835 | 0.173 | < 0.001 |

the low-density treatment to 71% (SE = 4.2) in the high-density treatment.

Similar results were found for willow (Fig. 3, Table 1). Browse pressure by elk was high ranging from 86% (SE = 3.0) at the low stocking density to 92% (SE = 2.0) in the high-density treatment. Browse pressure by cattle was lower and increased as density increased, ranging from 34% (SE = 5.8; low treatment) to 61% (SE = 4.2; high treatment).

Effects on survival

Survival rates differed considerably between the two plant species: 87.7% of willow individuals survived over the seven-year experiment, while cottonwood survival was 22.6%. This resulted in significant differences in survival probabilities between cottonwood and willow (z = -11.410, P < 0.001). Despite considerable browse pressure by both cattle and elk across stocking densities, we found no significant effect of ungulate herbivory on survival of either plant species. However, we found a significant effect of belowground herbivory on survival probabilities (z = 10.185, P < 0.001), with increased mortality



Fig. 4. Survival probability of Scouler's willow (*Salix scouleriana*) and cottonwood (*Populus trichocarpa*) individuals over a seven-year period under variable belowground herbivory intensities by *Thomomys talpoides* (pocket gopher).

associated with increased belowground herbivory. A significant plant species by belowground herbivory interaction was found (z = 1.8461, P = 0.065) as survival decreased more rapidly for cottonwood than willow (Fig. 4).

For willow, survival probabilities and 95% CI were quite high at low (0.86, CI: 0.83–0.89) and moderate (0.84, CI: 0.79–0.89) levels of belowground herbivory and then dropped under high (0.62, CI: 0.51–0.77) and very high (0.38, CI: 0.22–0.66) intensity levels (Fig. 4, Table 2). Cottonwood showed a similar pattern, but survival rates were much more affected by belowground herbivory (Fig. 4, Table 2). At low belowground herbivory intensities, the probability of survival was 0.30 (CI: 0.25–0.34) and declined rapidly thereafter; no cottonwood individuals exposed to very high levels of belowground herbivory were alive after four years (Fig. 4).

Effects on height

Both aboveground and belowground herbivory affected the growth and size of cottonwood and willow (Figs. 5 and 6, Table 3). For willow, individuals in the complete ungulate exclusion treatment grew nearly 80 cm during the study from 72 cm (SE = 3) to 151 cm (SE = 7) and were significantly taller than willows in any of the

Table 2. The effect of belowground herbivory on Scouler's willow (*Salix scouleriana*) and cottonwood (*Populus trichocarpa*) survival probability based on Cox proportional hazards regression.

| Parameters | Belowground herbivory | Coef | Exp(coef) | SE(coef) | z | P(> z) |
|------------------|-----------------------|--------|-----------|----------|--------|---------|
| Scouler's willow | Moderate | 0.1478 | 1.1593 | 0.2343 | 0.6309 | 0.528 |
| | High | 1.0908 | 2.9767 | 0.2601 | 4.1938 | < 0.001 |
| | Very high | 1.8988 | 6.6779 | 0.3043 | 6.2389 | < 0.001 |
| Cottonwood | Moderate | 0.1236 | 1.1316 | 0.1083 | 1.1412 | 0.254 |
| | High | 0.8510 | 2.3420 | 0.1080 | 7.8760 | < 0.001 |
| | Very high | 1.4345 | 4.1975 | 0.1492 | 9.6125 | < 0.001 |

Note: Model tests whether effects of shown herbivory groups (moderate, high, and very high) differ from the low belowground herbivory group.

ENDRESS ET AL.



Fig. 5. Mean height of Scouler's willow (*Salix scouleriana*) and cottonwood (*Populus trichocarpa*) individuals within different cattle (*Bos taurus*) and Rocky Mountain elk (*Cervus elephus*) browsing treatment plots over seven years. Year 0 represents the pretreatment height for individuals within browsing treatment plots.

ungulate herbivory treatments. Herbivory by elk had a greater impact on height than cattle and as stocking density increased, effects on height were more pronounced. While willow individuals in the cattle treatments were significantly smaller than those in the ungulate exclusion treatment, willows in all cattle treatments grew over the seven years, with mean height increases ranging from 59 to 66 cm. This was not the case for the elk treatments; not only were growth rates much lower, but also the mean height of individuals in the high elk treatment at the end of the study (mean = 90 cm; SE = 8.7) was shorter than the initial mean height prior to the herbivory treatment of 93 cm (SE = 5.4). Belowground herbivory by pocket gophers also had a significant negative effect on willow height (Fig. 6), and a significant interaction between cattle and belowground herbivory was found (Table 3).

The effect of herbivory (above and below) on cottonwood height was even more pronounced

(Figs. 5 and 6). On average, individuals in the ungulate exclusion treatment grew 66 cm over the seven years. This was not the case in any of the herbivory treatments. In fact, only the low cattle treatment showed any meaningful increase in height during the study; cottonwood in all other cattle and elk treatments were either similar or shorter at the end of the study than at the beginning, regardless of stocking density (changes in height ranging –34 to 3 cm). Cottonwood was also highly sensitive to belowground herbivory by pocket gophers, with large declines in plant height accompanying very high level of gopher herbivory.

Discussion

Our study is one of the first to evaluate topdown regulation of plant species by multiple herbivore species across a range of herbivore densities. We found that herbivore species,



Fig. 6. Mean height of Scouler's willow (*Salix scouleriana*) and cottonwood (*Populus trichocarpa*) individuals under different levels of pocket gopher (*Thomomys talpoides*) pressure over a seven-year period. Year 0 represents the pretreatment height for individuals within browsing treatment plots. No cottonwoods were alive in years 6 and 7, and mean heights are shown as zero values.

herbivore density, and plant species all influenced the strength of top-down regulation and that the effect of herbivore abundance on plant demographic performance and populations depended on the herbivore species, differential herbivore preference for specific plant species, and the ability of plant species to tolerate herbivory. We also found that top-down regulation of cottonwood and willow was not driven solely by large ungulates; belowground was also a strong driver of demographic performance, and significant aboveground–belowground herbivory effects were found.

Ungulate species

Results showed that herbivory by cattle and elk significantly reduced growth of the two plant species, with elk having a larger effect than cattle. This result supported our hypothesis regarding differences in foraging ecology between the two

| Table 3. | The effect of aboveground | and belowground | herbivory on l | height of Scoul | er's willow (| Salix scoul | leriana) |
|----------|----------------------------|-----------------------|----------------|-----------------|---------------|-------------|----------|
| and co | ttonwood (Populus trichoca | rpa) individuals afte | er 84 months b | based on Poiss | on regression | n. | |

| Parameters | Herbivory | Estimate | SE | Р |
|------------------|----------------------|----------|-------|---------|
| Scouler's willow | Cattle | -0.13 | 0.033 | < 0.001 |
| | Elk | -0.301 | 0.041 | < 0.001 |
| | Gopher | -0.123 | 0.021 | < 0.001 |
| | Initial plant height | 0.009 | 0 | < 0.001 |
| | Cattle × gopher | 0.09 | 0.023 | < 0.001 |
| | Elk × gopher | 0.028 | 0.031 | 0.38 |
| Cottonwood | Cattle | -0.183 | 0.065 | 0.005 |
| | Elk | -0.452 | 0.078 | < 0.001 |
| | Gopher | -0.08 | 0.037 | 0.033 |
| | Initial plant height | 0.008 | 0 | < 0.001 |
| | Cattle × gopher | -0.024 | 0.047 | 0.61 |
| | Elk × gopher | -0.043 | 0.061 | 0.485 |

ECOSPHERE www.esajournals.org

ungulate species. Cattle are "bulk grazers," with a diet composed largely of fibrous grasses and grass-like species even during late summer as grasses senesce with summer drought in dry forests (Clark et al. 2013). By contrast, elk are "intermediate grazers," with a broader diet of grasses, forbs, and shrubs in these same dry forests, and more pronounced switch to a shrub diet in late summer with senescence of grasses and forbs (Findholt et al. 2004). These differences in diet selection and foraging ecology between cattle and elk likely explain differences in browse pressure between the two herbivores and the subsequent effects on plant growth documented in our experiment. Elk had much greater impact on plant growth than cattle, suppressing growth of both willow and cottonwood across herbivore density treatments. Cattle also reduced plant growth, but effects were not as strong or as consistent.

We found no cattle or elk herbivory effect on plant survival rates or probabilities. However, this result must be interpreted with caution, as our experiment likely underestimated ungulate effects on survival. Due to the logistics of implementing the experiment, cottonwood and willow populations were not exposed to herbivory for three years after completion of the ungulate exclosures, providing time for plants to establish and grow in the absence of ungulate herbivory. This likely allowed willow and cottonwood to tolerate higher levels of herbivory than if they had been exposed to herbivores immediately after stand thinning and prescribed fire. Thus, it would be inappropriate to conclude that cattle and elk have no effect on survival rates based solely on this experiment given the time lag between the construction of the exclosures and the initiation of the herbivory treatments.

We hypothesized that elk would exert more pressure on deciduous woody plant species than cattle given that *Salix* spp. and *Populus* spp. are preferred forage species for elk (Cook 2002). Pekin et al. (2015) recently showed that elk reduced woody plant cover in the forest understory significantly more than cattle. Despite cattle's preference for herbaceous forage, browse pressure on cottonwood and willow by cattle was still moderate, ranging from 34% to 61%, which resulted in modest impacts on plant growth. Direct impacts of cattle on upland woody plant demography in the region have not received much attention, likely because cattle are primarily grazers of herbaceous species and deciduous woody species represent a very small proportion of their diet (Clark et al. 2013). Our study indicates that in addition to wild ungulates, cattle can also regulate woody species growth and size, despite their strong preference and selection for herbaceous vegetation. Thus, predicting herbivore impacts on plant population and community dynamics based on herbivore diet composition may miss important herbivore effects.

Role of ungulate abundance

One novel aspect of our research was the evaluation of herbivore impacts along an ungulate density gradient. Results showed that the importance of herbivore abundance on top-down regulation varied by ungulate and plant species. Herbivore pressure and effects by cattle on both willow and cottonwood increased as cattle densities increased. This was not the case for elk, where the effect of ungulate density depended on the plant species. Increasing elk density increased browse pressure on cottonwood populations. However, effects on growth of cottonwood were similar regardless of elk density, and any level of elk herbivory resulted in suppressing the species' growth.

Elk effects on willow showed a different pattern. In this case, browse pressure was similar regardless of elk density (ranging from 86% to 92%), with effects on growth increasing slightly with elk density. These results suggest that for elk, willow is a highly preferred browse species, with high levels of browse pressure even at low elk abundances, yet willow appears much more tolerant of herbivory than cottonwood, the latter exhibiting larger suppression effects on growth at lower browse pressures. Thus, when evaluating herbivore effects on plant populations, it is important to consider not only herbivore species and density, but also herbivore forage preference and each plant species' tolerance to herbivory. These issues have been largely ignored in studies evaluating the importance of top-down regulation by mammalian herbivores. Our results highlight the challenges in identifying and interpreting the strength and direction of top-down regulation of vegetation by herbivores when using traditional ungulate exclusion approaches that evaluate herbivory solely as a binary factor

ECOSPHERE ***** www.esajournals.org
or when studies ignore factors such as foraging behavior and preference.

Evaluating herbivore effects across a range of herbivore densities provides opportunities to identify herbivory thresholds where top-down effects are expressed. For example, cottonwood appears tolerant of cattle herbivory at low cattle densities, with minimal impacts on growth; increasing cattle abundances results in large effects. On the other hand, any level of elk herbivory suppressed cottonwood growth, indicating a much lower herbivore threshold density for top-down regulation of plant demography. These findings indicate the need for a more thorough understanding of the role of herbivore abundance in regulating individual plant performance, plant population, and plant community dynamics.

The heavy browse pressure by elk and corresponding impacts to growth, even at lower densities, suggests that in the case of upland coniferous forests, increasing the abundance of top predators (e.g., wolves, cougars) may not result in large increases in the recruitment and abundance deciduous woody species that have been reported in some riparian ecosystems of western North America (e.g., Ripple and Larsen 2000, Ripple and Beschta 2004, 2007, Beschta 2005). Several reasons may explain the difference. First, our results showed that even in the lowdensity elk treatment, elk were able to suppress plant growth, particularly for cottonwood, where effects were nearly identical to the moderateand high-density elk treatments. Additionally, the slow growth rates of cottonwood and willow measured in our study may weaken the importance of trophic cascades in this instance. Annual growth rates of cottonwood in the complete ungulate exclusion treatment averaged 9 cm/ yr, which is half the growth rate reported in an adjacent riparian area by J. P. Averett (unpublished *data*). Assuming constant growth rates through time, it will take twice as long for cottonwoods in upland forests to grow above the browse line than in riparian zones, substantially increasing the probability of being browsed and suppressed by herbivores. Thus, it remains unclear what level of predator pressure would be required to reduce elk pressure on plant populations, either through altering elk distribution patterns, reducing densities, or both, to such a degree that cottonwood

and willow would be able to escape herbivory and grow above the browse line (~2.5 m), particularly given the slow growth rates of willow and cottonwood in the uplands and high browse pressure. Finally, and perhaps most importantly, results indicate that pocket gophers, not ungulates, are a major regulator of cottonwood and willow abundance and size. Given that gophers are not a key prey species for large predators, the role of other smaller predators may be more important for deciduous woody plant dynamics in upland forests than large predators.

Belowground herbivory

The role of gophers in affecting vital rates of willow and cottonwood was an unexpected finding. Thus, more research should focus on the role of belowground herbivores in regulating willow and cottonwood. Cantor and Whitham (1989) reported that pocket gophers significantly reduced growth and survival in a related species, quaking aspen (P. tremuloides). Our approach was sufficient to identify pocket gopher-caused mortality, but our estimates of belowground herbivory intensity were imprecise and likely an underestimate. While gopher mounds directly at the base of individual plants are indicative of belowground herbivory (Fig. 1a), we could not account for root herbivory away from the stem or in instances where a mound did not form. However, the clear trends in increased mortality and decreased growth along our belowground herbivory intensity gradient suggest that our approach and interpretation were appropriate. Cantor and Whitham (1989) suggested that belowground herbivores feeding on roots are likely more important than aboveground herbivores that consume leaves and branches because of the effects of root herbivory on a plant's water balance. Results from the growing body of research on belowground invertebrate herbivory also indicate that plants respond to root herbivory much differently than to aboveground herbivory and that plants have a lower tolerance to root herbivory than aboveground defoliation (Zvereva and Kozlov 2012, Stephens et al. 2013, Johnson et al. 2016). Our results appear to support these findings and show that small mammal herbivory on root systems may be a primary force regulating the abundance and population dynamics of these two plant species. Manipulative

experiments that control for both aboveground and belowground herbivores are needed to better understand herbivore impacts alone and in concert on plant demography.

Our results are similar to Lyly et al. (2014) in boreal forests, who found that while deer reduced growth of deciduous woody species, small mammals (voles and hares) had the largest effect on their survival. Herbivory by small mammals has been recognized as an important ecological process regulating plant populations and communities (Van der Wal et al. 2000, Howe et al. 2006, Smit et al. 2010, Gough et al. 2012, Goheen et al. 2013, McLaughlin and Zavaleta 2013, Rebollo and García-Salgado 2013), although most mammalian-focused herbivory research has focused on large-bodied species with some suggesting that larger mammalian herbivores are stronger regulators than smaller species (Bakker et al. 2006). Our findings and those by others (e.g., Goheen et al. 2013, McLaughlin and Zavaleta 2013, Rueda et al. 2013, Lyly et al. 2014) suggest that the strength of effect of mammalian herbivores in regulating vegetation is not related to body size. Rather, the entire herbivore community must be considered when evaluating herbivore impacts.

Plant species

Our experiment to evaluate effects of herbivores on two plant species provided insight on how differential herbivore preference, combined with differential tolerance levels to herbivory between plant species, affected the strength of top-down regulation. Both willow and cottonwood were browsed by the two ungulates but pressure on willow was considerably greater. However, herbivore effects were stronger on cottonwood, indicating this willow species is more resilient to ungulate herbivory than cottonwood. Responses to belowground herbivory were similar, with willow having higher survival and growth rates than cottonwood. These findings may help explain why Scouler's willow is common and widely distributed in upland conifer forests in the interior Pacific Northwest (Johnson 1998). By contrast, cottonwood is associated with more mesic forests or riparian ecosystems (Burns and Honkala 1990) and not as common in upland forests as willow. It is possible that our upland sites were near soil moisture tolerance limits of

cottonwood given the 20% survival rate of cottonwoods in the ungulate exclusion treatment and the lower growth rates of cottonwoods relative to those found in nearby riparian areas (J. P. Averett, *unpublished data*).

Our results further suggest that willow and cottonwood may respond to herbivore density levels in different ways, likely along environmental and productivity gradients as shown for other plant species (Gough et al. 2012, Goheen et al. 2013, McLaughlin and Zavaleta 2013, Young et al. 2013). Thus, plant responses to herbivory that we documented may vary more widely across the landscape not only in response to herbivore species and abundance, but also with environmental gradients. This underscores the complexity of predicting the strength and direction of top-down regulation of vegetation by herbivores.

Implications for forest dynamics

The implications of top-down regulation of deciduous woody species by herbivores for longterm forest dynamics remain unclear. Based on our findings, in cases where ungulate herbivores are absent or exert very low browse pressure on deciduous woody species, low densities of cottonwood and willow will likely recruit to the canopy and change the overstory from one dominated exclusively by conifers to one that also includes a deciduous tree component. Densities of conifer seedlings in these postfire stands reach >1500 seedlings per hectare (B. A. Endress, unpublished *data*), much greater than densities of cottonwood and willow (Fig. 2). However, these two species are not the only deciduous woody species present with the potential to grow above the browse line and potentially influence forest structure, composition, and dynamics. A number of additional deciduous woody species including Acer glabrum, Amelanchier alnifolia, P. tremuloides, Prunus virginiana, Sambucus spp., and Sorbus scopulina are found in these forests, many of which are also browsed by ungulates (Dayton 1931, Johnson 1988, Riggs et al. 2000, Endress et al. 2012). If these species respond similarly to herbivory as cottonwood and willow in our study, under low ungulate browse pressure scenarios, a deciduous woody layer 3-10 m in height may develop and increase the structural complexity and diversity of these conifer dominated forest stands. Long-term

monitoring is required to better understand whether and to what degree this occurs.

Our research identified four key factors that influence the strength of herbivory as a top-down regulator of plant structure and demographic performance: (1) herbivore species, (2) herbivore abundance, (3) herbivore diet selection, and (4) the ability of plant species to tolerate herbivory. Our research further demonstrated the importance of moving beyond traditional herbivory research that (1) only evaluates pooled herbivore effects and (2) considers herbivory solely as a binary variable (i.e., ungulate presences versus absence). Our results demonstrate the need for increased understanding of the importance and strength of herbivore effects both theoretically and in practice by incorporating multiple species across a range of herbivore densities. This would be particularly helpful to inform effective management of ecosystems that contain multiple herbivores that vary in abundance. This would substantially advance our knowledge of herbivory effects and mechanistic processes of regulation, particularly if new research evaluates responses along a wide spectrum of environmental gradients. Unfortunately, such research designs are both expensive and logistically challenging, particularly related to varying ungulate species and densities in a controlled manner across environmental conditions over long periods. These challenges largely explain the large knowledge gaps regarding herbivores as top-down regulators of plant dynamics, and why mammal herbivory research continues to focus on binary exclusion experiments.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful for the 12 summer technicians who helped collect field data for our research. We also thank Jennifer Hafer, Kent Coe, Brian Dick, Ryan Kennedy, and Dennis Rea for support on all aspects of the research and Tim DelCurto, Martin Vavra, Abe Clark, John Cook, and Rachael Cook for designing and implementing the cattle and elk herbivory treatments. Research was funded by the USDA Forest Service Pacific Norwest Research Station, Blue Mountains Demonstration Project and Oregon State University. Research was conducted under approval and guidance by an Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC 92-F-0004), as required by the United States Animal Welfare Act of 1985 and its regulations. We followed protocols established specifically by the IACUC for conducting cattle and elk research in our study area (Wisdom et al. 1993).

LITERATURE CITED

- Agee, J. K., and C. N. Skinner. 2005. Basic principles of forest fuel reduction treatments. Forest Ecology and Management 211:83–96.
- Andersen, P. K., and R. D. Gill. 1982. Cox's Regression Model for counting processes: a large sample study. Annals of Statistics 10:1100–1120.
- Anderson, M. D. 2001. Salix scouleriana. in Fire effects information system. USDA Forest Service. http:// www.fs.fed.us/database/feis/
- Asquith, N. M., S. J. Wright, and M. J. Clauss. 1997. Does mammal community composition control recruitment in neotropical forests? Evidence from Panama. Ecology 78:941–946.
- Augustine, D. J., and S. J. McNaughton. 1998. Ungulate effects on the functional species composition of plant communities: herbivore selectivity and plant tolerance. Journal of Wildlife Management 62:1165–1183.
- Bakker, E. S., M. E. Ritchie, H. Olff, D. G. Milchunas, and J. M. H. Knops. 2006. Herbivore impact on grassland plant diversity depends on habitat productivity and herbivore size. Ecology Letters 9:780–788.
- Beguin, J., D. Pothier, and S. D. Côté. 2011. Deer browsing and soil disturbance induce cascading effects on plant communities: a multilevel path analysis. Ecological Applications 21:439–451.
- Beschta, R. L. 2005. Reduced cottonwood recruitment following extirpation of wolves in Yellowstone's northern range. Ecology 86:391–403.
- Bryant, L. D., and J. M. Skovlin. 1982. Effect of grazing strategies and rehabilitation on an eastern Oregon stream. Pages 27–30 *in* K. A. Hashagen, editor. Habitat disturbance and recovery: proceedings of a symposium, California Trout Inc., San Francisco, California, USA.
- Bull, E. L., A. A. Clark, and J. F. Shepherd. 2005. Shortterm effects of fuel reduction on pileated woodpeckers in northeastern Oregon: a pilot study. USDA Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station PNW-RP-564, Portland, Oregon, USA.
- Burns, R. M., and E. J. Honkala. 1990. Silvics of North America, volume 2. USDA Forest Service Agriculture Handbook 654, Washington, D.C., USA
- Campos, C. M., S. M. Giannoni, and C. E. Borghi. 2001. Changes in Monte desert plant communities induced by a subterranean mammal. Journal of Arid Environments 47:339–345.

- Cantor, L. F., and T. G. Whitham. 1989. Importance of belowground herbivory: pocket gophers may limit aspen to rock outcrop refugia. Ecology 1:962–970.
- Clark, A., T. DelCurto, M. Vavra, and B. L. Dick. 2013. Stocking rate and fuels reduction effects on beef cattle diet composition and quality. Rangeland Ecology and Management 66:714–720.
- Cook, J. G. 2002. Nutrition and food. Pages 259–349 in D. E. Toweill and J. W. Thomas, editors. North American elk, ecology and management. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington, D.C., USA.
- Cook, J. G., B. K. Johnson, R. C. Cook, R. A. Riggs, T. Delcurto, L. D. Bryant, and L. L. Irwin. 2004. Effects of summer-autumn nutrition and parturition date on reproduction and survival of elk. Wildlife Monographs 155:1–61.
- Côté, S. D., T. P. Rooney, J. P. Tremblay, C. Dussault, and D. M. Waller. 2004. Ecological impacts of deer overabundance. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 35:113–147.
- Cox, G. W., and J. Hunt. 1994. Pocket gopher herbivory and mortality of ocotillo on stream terrace, bajada, and hillside sites in the Colorado Desert, southern California. Southwestern Naturalist 39:364–370.
- Dayton, W. A. 1931. Important Western browse plants. Miscellaneous Publication No. 101. United States Department of Agriculture, Washington, D.C., USA
- Endress, B. A., D. L. Gorchov, and R. B. Noble. 2004. Non-timber forest product extraction: effects of harvest and browsing on an understory palm. Ecological Applications 14:1139–1153.
- Endress, B. A., M. J. Wisdom, M. Vavra, C. G. Parks, B. L. Dick, B. J. Naylor, and J. M. Boyd. 2012. Effects of ungulate herbivory on aspen, cottonwood, and willow development under forest fuels treatment regimes. Forest Ecology and Management 276:33–40.
- Eschtruth, A. K., and J. J. Battles. 2008. Deer herbivory alters forest response to canopy decline caused by an exotic insect pest. Ecological Applications 18:360–376.
- Findholt, S. L., B. K., Johnson, D. Damiran, T. Del-Curto, and J. G. Kie. 2004. Diet composition, dry matter intake, and diet overlap of mule deer, elk, and cattle. Pages 670–686. Transactions of the 69th North American Wildlife and Natural Resources Conference Transactions, North American Wildlife and Natural Resources Conference, Spokane, Washington, USA.
- Fritz, H., P. Duncan, I. J. Gordon, and A. W. Illius. 2002. Megaherbivores influence trophic guilds structure in African ungulate communities. Oecologia 131:620–625.
- Gill, R. M. A. 1992. A review of damage by mammals in North Temperate Forests: 3. Impact on trees and forests. Forestry 65:363–388.

- Goheen, J. R., T. M. Palmer, G. K. Charles, K. M. Helgen, S. N. Kinyua, J. E. Maclean, B. L. Turner, H. S. Young, and R. M. Pringle. 2013. Piecewise disassembly of a large-herbivore community across a rainfall gradient: the UHURU experiment. PLoS ONE 8:e55192.
- Gough, L., J. C. Moore, G. R. Shaver, R. T. Simpson, and D. R. Johnson. 2012. Above- and belowground responses of arctic tundra ecosystems to altered soil nutrients and mammalian herbivory. Ecology 93:1683–1694.
- Hobbs, N. T., D. L. Baker, J. E. Ellis, and D. M. Swift. 1981. Composition and quality of elk winter diets in Colorado. Journal of Wildlife Management 45:156–171.
- Holechek, J. L., R. D. Pieper, and C. H. Herbel. 1998. Range management principles and practices. Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, New Jersey, USA.
- Howe, H. F., B. Zorn-Arnold, A. Sullivan, and J. S. Brown. 2006. Massive and distinctive effects of meadow voles on grassland vegetation. Ecology 87:3007–3013.
- Johnson, C. G. 1998. Common plants of the inland Pacific Northwest. USDA Forest Service R6-NR-ECOL-TP-09-04, Portland, Oregon, USA.
- Johnson, S. N., M. Erb, and S. E. Hartley. 2016. Roots under attack: contrasting plant responses to belowand aboveground insect herbivory. New Phytologist 210:413–418.
- Lara, N., P. Sassi, and C. E. Borghi. 2007. Effect of herbivory and disturbances by tuco-tucos (*Ctenomys mendocinus*) on a plant community in the southern Puna Desert. Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research 39:110–116.
- Lyly, M., T. Klemola, E. Koivisto, O. Huitu, L. Oksanen, and E. Korpimäki. 2014. Varying impacts of cervid, hare and vole browsing on growth and survival of boreal tree seedlings. Oecologia 174:271–281.
- Manson, R. H., R. S. Ostfeld, and C. D. Canham. 2001. Long-term effects of rodent herbivores on tree invasion dynamics along forest–field edges. Ecology 82:3320–3329.
- McInnes, P. F., R. J. Naiman, J. Pastor, and Y. Cohen. 1992. Effects of moose browsing on vegetation and litter of the boreal forest, Isle Royale, Michigan, USA. Ecology 73:2059–2075.
- McLaughlin, B. C., and E. S. Zavaleta. 2013. Shifting bottom-up and top-down regulation of oak recruitment across a regional resource gradient. Global Ecology and Biogeography 22:718–727.
- McNaughton, S. J. 1985. Ecology of a grazing ecosystem: the Serengeti. Ecological Monographs 55: 259–294.
- Moeur, M. 1992. Baseline demographics of late successional western hemlock/western redcedar stands in

northern Idaho Research Natural Areas. Research Paper INT-456. USDA Forest Service, Intermountain Research Station, Ogden, Utah, USA.

- Oksanen, L., S. D. Fretwell, J. Arruda, and P. Niemela. 1981. Exploitation ecosystems in gradients of primary productivity. American Naturalist 118: 240–261.
- Oksanen, L., and J. Moen. 1994. Species-specific plant responses to exclusion of grazers in three Fennoscandian tundra habitats. Ecoscience 1:31–39.
- Pekin, B. K., B. A. Endress, M. J. Wisdom, B. J. Naylor, and C. G. Parks. 2014a. Impact of ungulate exclusion on understorey succession in relation to forest management in the Intermountain Western United States. Applied Vegetation Science 18:252–260.
- Pekin, B. K., M. J. Wisdom, B. A. Endress, B. J. Naylor, and C. G. Parks. 2014b. Ungulate browsing maintains shrub diversity in the absence of episodic disturbance in seasonally-arid conifer forest. PLoS ONE 9:e86288.
- Pekin, B. K., M. J. Wisdom, C. G. Parks, B. A. Endress, and B. J. Naylor. 2015. Response of native versus exotic plant guilds to cattle and elk herbivory in forested rangeland. Applied Vegetation Science. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/avsc.12194
- R Core Team. 2012. R: a language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. https://cran.r-project. org/doc/manuals/r-release/fullrefman.pdf
- Riggs, R. A., et al. 2000. Modification of mixed-conifer forests by ruminant herbivores in the Blue Mountains Ecological Province. PNW-RP-527. USDA Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, Portland, Oregon, USA.
- Ripple, W. J., and R. L. Beschta. 2004. Wolves and the ecology of fear: Can predation risk structure ecosystems? BioScience 54:755–766.
- Ripple, W. J., and R. L. Beschta. 2007. Restoring Yellowstone's aspen with wolves. Biological Conservation 138:514–519.
- Ripple, W. J., and E. J. Larsen. 2000. Historic aspen recruitment, elk, and wolves in northern Yellowstone National Park, USA. Biological Conservation 95:361–370.
- Rooney, T. P., and D. M. Waller. 2003. Direct and indirect effects of white-tailed deer in forest ecosystems. Forest Ecology and Management 181:165–176.
- Rowland, M. M., L. D. Bryant, B. K. Johnson, J. H. Noyes, M. J. Wisdom, and J. W. Thomas. 1997. The Starkey Project: history, facilities, and data collection methods for ungulate research. PNW-GTR-396. USDA Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, Portland, Oregon, USA.
- Rueda, M., S. Rebollo, and G. Garcia-Salgado. 2013. Contrasting impacts of different-sized herbivores

on species richness of Mediterranean annual pastures differing in primary productivity. Oecologia 172:449–549.

- Sankaran, M., D. J. Augustine, and J. Ratnam. 2013. Native ungulates of diverse body sizes collectively regulate long-term woody plant demography and structure of a semi-arid savanna. Journal of Ecology 101:1389–1399.
- Schall, R. 1991. Estimation in generalized linear models with random effects. Biometrika 78:719–727.
- Smit, C., E. S. Bakker, M. E. F. Apol, and H. Olff. 2010. Effects of cattle and rabbit grazing on clonal expansion of spiny shrubs in wood-pastures. Basic and Applied Ecology 11:685–692.
- Steinberg, P. D. 2001. Populus balsamifera subsp. trichocarpa in Fire effects information system. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station, Fire Sciences Laboratory. http://www.fs.fed.us/database/feis/
- Stephens, A. E., D. S. Srivastava, and J. H. Myers. 2013. Strength in numbers? Effects of multiple natural enemy species on plant performance. Proceedings of the Royal Society B 280:20122756.
- Therneau, T. M., and P. M. Grambsch. 2000. Modeling survival data: extending the Cox Model. Springer, New York, New York, USA.
- Turkington, R. 2009. Top-down and bottom-up forces in mammalian herbivore – vegetation systems: an essay review. Botany-Botanique 87:723–739.
- Van der Wal, R., H. V. Wijnen, S. V. Wieren, O. Buecher, and D. Bos. 2000. On facilitation between herbivores: How Brent geese profit from brown hares? Ecology 81:969–980.
- Vavra, M., A. A. Ager, B. Johnson, M. J. Wisdom, M. A. Hemstrom, and R. A. Riggs. 2004a. Modeling the effects of large herbivores. Pages 82–103 in J. L. Hayes, A. A. Ager, and J. R. Barbour, editors. PNW-GTR-610. Methods for integrated modeling of landscape change: interior Northwest Landscape Analysis System. USDA Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, Portland, Oregon, USA.
- Vavra, M., C. G. Parks, and M. J. Wisdom. 2007. Biodiversity, exotic plant species, and herbivory: the good, the bad, and the ungulate. Forest Ecology and Management 246:66–72.
- Vavra, M., M. J. Wisdom, J. G. Kie, J. G. Cook, and R. A. Riggs. 2004b. The role of ungulate herbivory and management on ecosystem patterns and processes: future direction of the Starkey Project. Pages 785–797. Transactions of the 69th North American Wildlife and Natural Resources Conference Transactions, North American Wildlife and Natural Resources Conference, Spokane, Washington, USA.
- Venables, W. N., and B. D. Ripley. 2002. Modern applied statistics. Springer, New York, New York, USA.

ECOSPHERE ***** www.esajournals.org

17

October 2016 * Volume 7(10) * Article e01530

- Weisberg, P. J., and H. Bugmann. 2003. Forest dynamics and ungulate herbivory: from leaf to landscape. Forest Ecology and Management 181:1–12.
- Wisdom, M. J. 2005. The Starkey Project: a synthesis of long-term studies of elk and mule deer. Alliance Communications Group, Allen Press, Lawrence, Kansas, USA.
- Wisdom, M. J., J. G. Cook, M. M. Rowland, and J. H. Noyes. 1993. Protocols for care and handling of deer and elk at the Starkey Experimental Forest and Range. PNW-GTR-311. USDA Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, Portland, Oregon, USA.
- Wisdom, M. J., and J. W. Thomas. 1996. Elk. Pages 157– 181 in P. R. Krausman, editor. Range land wildlife. Society for Range Management, Denver, Colorado, USA.
- Wisdom, M. J., M. Vavra, M. J. M. Boyd, M. A. Hemstrom, A. A. Ager, and B. K. Johnson. 2006. Understanding ungulate herbivory-episodic disturbance effects on vegetation dynamics: knowledge gaps and management needs. Wildlife Society Bulletin 34:283–292.
- Young, H. S., D. J. McCauley, K. M. Helgen, J. R. Goheen, E. Otárola-Castillo, T. M. Palmer, R. M. Pringle, T. P. Young, and R. Dirzo. 2013. Effects of mammalian herbivore declines on plant communities: observations and experiments in an African savanna. Journal of Ecology 101:1030–1041.
- Zvereva, E. L., and M. V. Kozlov. 2012. Sources of variation in plant responses to belowground insect herbivory: a meta-analysis. Oecologia 169: 441–452.